TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY School of Business and Governance Ragnar Nurkse Department of Innovation and Governance

Triin Puusaar

KEY FACTORS INFLUENCING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE ONCE-ONLY PRINCIPLE: CASE STUDY OF ESTONIA

Master's thesis

Supervisors: Maarja Toots (MA), Tarmo Kalvet (PhD)

Tallinn 2019

I hereby declare that I have compiled the paper independently and all works, important standpoints and data by other authors has been properly referenced and the same paper has not been previously presented for grading. The document length is 13 450 words from the introduction to the end of conclusion.

Author: Triin Puusaar Student code: 161629HGM Student e-mail address: triin.puusaar@gmail.com

Supervisor: Maarja Toots, MA: The paper conforms to requirements in force

(signature, date)

Co-supervisor: Tarmo Kalvet, PhD: The paper conforms to requirements in force

(signature, date)

Chairman of the Defence Committee: Permitted to the defence

.....

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	5
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	6
INTRODUCTION	7
1. LITERATURE REVIEW	10
1.1 The once-only principle: definitions and dimensions	10
1.2 Factors influencing the implementation of e-government initiatives and projects	14
1.2.1 Technological factors	14
1.2.1.1 ICT infrastructure	14
1.2.1.2 System and service integration	14
1.2.1.3 Interoperability	15
1.2.1.4 ICT standards	16
1.2.1.5 Security and privacy	16
1.2.2 Organisational factors	16
1.2.2.1 Organisational structure	16
1.2.2.2 Organisational culture	17
1.2.2.3 Qualification and training of employees	18
1.2.2.4 Management support and leadership	18
1.2.2.5 Financial resources	19
1.2.2.6 Collaboration and coordination	19
1.2.3 Institutional and political factors	20
1.2.3.1 Regulations and rules	20
1.2.3.2 Political will and support	20
1.2.4 Demand side factors	21
1.2.5 Key factors influencing the implementation of the OOP	21

2. CASE STUDY: THE ONCE-ONLY PRINCIPLE IN ESTONIA	25
2.1 Research Methodology	25
2.1.1 Data Collection	26
2.1.2 Limitations	27
2.2 Case of Estonia	27
2.2.1 First steps towards the implementation of OOP (1991-1997)	28
2.2.2.1 Overview of the data exchange in the end of 1990s	30
2.2.3 Initiation of stronger basis for OOP-based infrastructure, X-tee (1997-2000)	32
2.2.4 Implementation and developments of X-tee (2000-2004)	34
DISCUSSION	40
CONCLUSION	46
LIST OF REFERENCES	48
APPENDICES	65

ABSTRACT

The once-only principle (OOP) is an e-government concept that aims to reduce administrative burden and financial costs. For achieving this, public sector organisations should not require data from citizens and businesses more than once but share and reuse the already collected information between other public sector organizations. Although the cross-border implementation of the OOP has recently gained importance in the European Union, there is not much research about the application of the OOP at the national level. The aim of this thesis is to examine the key factors that influenced the implementation of the OOP in Estonia and derive potential lessons that other countries could learn from when implementing the OOP at the national level. A descriptive case study is conducted on the initiation and implementation of the OOP in Estonia covering the period 1991-2004. The case seems to show that the initiation and actual implementation of the OOP were especially influenced by organisational (e.g. financial resources, inter- and intra-organisational collaboration), technological (e.g. ICT infrastructure, chosen technology for data exchange and data reuse) and institutional factors (i.e. supportive and flexible legislative system). In addition, as the case demonstrated several context-specific factors, other countries should rather design context-specific solutions than copy Estonian practices.

Keywords: once-only principle, e-government, factors influencing OOP, data exchange, data reuse

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

EU - European Union

ICT - Information and Communication Technology

OOP - Once-only principle

SCOOP4C - Stakeholder Community Once-Only Principle for Citizens

TOOP - The Once-Only Principle Project

INTRODUCTION

The 'once-only' principle (hereinafter - OOP) is commonly understood as a principle according to which public administrations collect standard information from citizens and businesses only once, then share the data (Gallo *et al.* 2015; Krimmer *et al.* 2017) and "if permitted, internally re-use this data" (EU eGovernment Action Plan 2016-2020, 3). It is an e-government concept (Gallo *et al.* 2014) that in recent years has started to gain more importance and attention in the European Union. It is expected to reduce the administrative burden and financial costs and has become an important principle addressed by policy and by various pan-European projects (EU eGovernment Action Plan 2016-2020; Cave *et al.* 2017; Wimmer, Marinov 2017). In order to contribute to a successfully functioning and more efficient Digital Single Market (EU eGovernment Action Plan 2016-2020), the European Commission has put a special focus on the cross-border application of the OOP and thus, launched two projects in 2016 and 2017 (Wimmer, Marinov 2017; European Commission 2017a). The SCOOP4C Project explored the possibilities of the cross-border sharing and reuse of the citizens' data (Wimmer, Marinov 2017) and the Once-Only Principle Project (TOOP) works on building an infrastructure for sharing the data from businesses (European Commission 2017a).

Although the concept of the once-only principle is relatively new, especially in the cross-border context, several countries in the EU have already implemented different initiatives, projects or programmes related to this principle at national, regional or local levels (Blau *et al.* 2015, 8; Krimmer *et al.* 2017, 11-13). However, the interpretation of the principle varies in different EU Member states: whereas some countries have focused on storing the data (i.e. in one database), other countries have aimed at collecting the data only once (Krimmer *et al.* 2017, 10; Blau *et al.* 2015, 12, 32). In addition, only a few of these countries have clear OOP strategies and successfully functioning systems in place (Blau *et al.* 2015, 9). Therefore, in order to contribute

to a successful implementation of OOP across borders, it would be essential to study those countries that can be considered good examples regarding their own OOP related practices. This would allow to understand different factors influencing the implementation of these initiatives on the national level and thus to comprehend the various cases better. Furthermore, studying success stories would not only help to understand what kind of approaches and practices work but also the reasons why they work. Thus, courtesy of this information, it is possible to design solutions for both cross-border and national use of OOP. Moreover, as the OOP concept is new and not widely used yet, there is a lack of academic studies on different cases that would have an in depth focus on the implementation of OOP in particular countries and would try to understand the factors that have influenced the implementation process. Therefore, the aim of the thesis is improve our understanding of this topic.

The thesis will focus and explore the case of Estonia. There are two core reasons for this. Firstly, according to the findings of a few existing studies on OOP studies, Estonia has implemented the greatest number of seamlessly working OOP use cases at the national level (Vallner *et al.* 2017, 14-16; Blau *et al.* 2015; Krimmer *et al.* 2017; Gallo *et al.* 2015, 4, 29). For example, it is possible to find OOP in policy domains such as health, education, taxation, social protection and several others (Wimmer 2018, 11-12; Vallner *et al.* 2017). Furthermore, there is also a legal basis that enables OOP. Secondly, Estonia is well-developed in the digital field and ranked relatively high for its various e-government and digital aspects (Kattel, Mergel 2018, 1; European Commission 2018; United Nations 2018). Therefore, Estonia can be taken as a good example to study. However, in addition to success factors, it would be also essential to understand the main challenges that might have hindered the OOP implementation process in Estonia.

The main research questions of the thesis that will be studied are the following:

- What are the key factors that led to the emergence of the OOP in Estonia?
- What are the lessons other countries could draw from the case of Estonia, if any?

In order to answer these questions, the empirical part of the thesis will give a detailed overview of the history and main developments regarding the implementation of OOP in Estonia. It then

tries to understand and highlight the central factors that have influenced the actual implementation of OOP.

The thesis is divided into five parts. The current chapter gives an overview of the problem, need for the research, research questions, and the structure of the thesis. The second chapter focuses on the theoretical framework, specifically on the main factors that have influenced the implementation of e-government initiatives and projects. The third chapter gives an overview of the research methodology. The next part provides the empirical findings of the thesis and its connections with the theoretical framework. The last part is dedicated to the discussion and main conclusions of the study. Finally, the summary of the thesis will be presented.

1. LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter will first explain the concept, definition, benefits and different interpretations of the once-only principle. It will then discuss the factors influencing the implementation of the OOP. Due to the lack of literature on the OOP, related disciplines such as public sector innovation, information and communication technology, and e-government will be examined to identify the main factors influencing the implementation of e-government initiatives and projects. Finally, a theoretical framework will be developed.

1.1 The once-only principle: definitions and dimensions

The "once-only" principle is an e-government concept that "allows individuals and businesses to supply certain standard information to the public administrations only once" (Gallo *et al.* 2014; Cave *et al.* 2017; Blau *et al.* 2015; Krimmer *et al.* 2017). In order to make this happen, public administrations should collect, manage, authenticate, share and re-use the data internally by also taking into account various restrictions, for example regulations (Cave *et al.* 2017; Krimmer *et al.* 2017, 5-6, 10). Therefore, the aim of the principle is to avoid situations where individuals or businesses report the same data and information to government institutions and agencies multiple times. Courtesy of this, the implementation of the OOP helps to minimise and eliminate the administrative burden on all parties, i.e. citizens, companies and public administrations. As the exchange of already provided and collected information is less expensive and more efficient than collecting and storing the data over and over again, the OOP is expected to thus, significantly save time and costs. Furthermore, the collection of data only once can prevent accidental mistakes and errors while processing the information. More benefits of the OOP include also improved and user-friendlier public services, better customer

satisfaction, cost-effective, transparent, and efficient government and promotion of innovation and economic growth. (Cave *et al.* 2017; Krimmer *et al.* 2017; Gallo *et al.* 2014)

The OOP is associated with the digitalization of public sector and closely connected to concepts such as digital by default, point of single contact, the fair information processing principles and so forth (Cave *et al.* 2017, 1; EU eGovernment Action Plan 2016-2020, 6). Without the transition of paper documents to electronic data nor the existence of a functioning e-government, the OOP can neither be initiated nor implemented. One of the key elements for putting the principle into practice are the base registries, i.e. "authentic sources of basic information or data for public administrations" that help public administrations to find, determine and exchange the necessary information and data (Osimo 2018, 4; European Commission 2016, 4-5). Base registries that contain information on different categories (e.g. businesses, persons, real property) are crucial for the functioning of the public services (European Commission 2016, 5) and thus, also for the OOP (Gallo *et al.* 2014, 5, 28, 32-33).

However, there are several dimensions that need to be taken into account when trying to initiate and implement the principle. Although technology and various technical aspects play an essential role in the implementation of the OOP, it is crucial to also focus on several other sides. According to Gallo *et al.* 2014, Cave *et al.* 2017 and Kalvet *et al.* 2017, there are various organisational, legal, semantic, political, demand-side, and security aspects that should be taken into consideration when starting to implement the OOP. Therefore the implementation of the principle is an interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary concept that cannot be seen in the isolation. (Gallo *et al.* 2017, 5) The broader context should be thus knowingly taken into account.

According to findings of the OOP related practices and programmes in individual countries of EU (Cave *et al.* 2017; Wimmer 2018; Vallner *et al.* 2017; Blau *et al.* 2015), the interpretation of the principle in different countries is not unambiguous. While some countries have rather put an emphasis on the approach of how to store information and data then other member states have focused on the collection of the data (Krimmer *et al.* 2017, 10; Cave *et al.* 2017, 7). According to the first version, it is required to "store the information once only" (Cave *et al.*

2017, 7) and "not to duplicate the information requests and storages for these" (Krimmer *et al.* 2017, 11). The second version, in contrast, requires to submit data only once. However, it does not forbid to use several records for identical information. (Cave *et al.* 2017, 7; Krimmer *et al.* 2017, 11). In addition to various interpretations of the OOP, it is also possible to notice differences in the level of institutionalisation. While some countries have found it essential to create concrete strategies and a supportive legislative framework for implementing the OOP, other countries have not prioritized such aspects. (Blau *et al.* 2015, 8-9, 13, Vallner *et al.* 2017, 121-130).

As the thesis will study the case of Estonia, the first version, i.e. an approach related to data collection by public authorities and data sharing across public organisations (Krimmer *et al.* 2017, 11) will be further analysed and focused on.

In order to get a more comprehensive understanding of the OOP, it is essential to understand more thoroughly different factors influencing the emergence and implementation of the OOP. Therefore taking into consideration the nature of the OOP, related disciplines such public sector innovation, information and communication technology and e-government will be briefly described and analysed.

The most prevalent concepts of innovation are often associated with private sector (Demircioglu, Audretsch 2017, 1681; Arfeen, Khan 2009, 439; Bugge, Bloch 2016). However, throughout last decade, a significant attention has started to be paid also to the public sector innovation (Bugge, Bloch 2016; European Commission 2014). Different challenges such as complex societal problems (Hartley *et al.* 2013, 821; Millard 2013), growing citizens' and businesses' expectations (Arfeen, Khan 2009, 440) and fiscal constraints (Vries *et al.* 2018, 269; Borins 2002, 467) have pressured public sector to be more innovative (Osborne, Brown 2011). Although not all innovations are successful and effective (Gambarotto, Camozzo 2010, 177), there is a rising understanding that public sector innovation can contribute to improved and more efficient services, enhanced solutions, increased productivity (Hartley *et al.* 2013, 821), and respond better to the public expectations and needs (Mulgan, Albury 2003).

An important part of public sector innovation can be associated with the uptake of Information and Communication Technology (hereinafter - ICT) (Misuraca, Viscusi 2015, 305; Bekkers, Homburg 2005). As ICT has become one of the main factors that encourages changes in the public sector (Arfeen, Khan 2009; Svidronova, Mikus 2015) and therefore modernizes the public sector, governments have started to focus on and invest heavily in ICT-driven innovation in order to provide more transparency, accountability, and efficiency (Csoto *et al.* 2014).

One of the recent trends regarding public sector innovation are different e-government initiatives and practices (Arheen, Khan 2009, 440). E-Government refers to an automation and eventual change from paper-based processes to electronic procedures that brings new ways to various areas such as business transactions, access to services, and organising information (Okot-Uma 2002; Basu 2004). Furthermore, one of the most essential purposes of the e-government is to improve administrative performance, deliver public services in a more efficient way, and promote democracy and transparency (Gil-Garcia, Pardo 2005, 187-188; Tung, Rieck 2005).

Thus, as can be concluded, the OOP with one of its aims to increase the efficiency of public administrations and improve digital public services for citizens and businesses (EU eGovernment Action Plan 2016-2020), is directly associated with all aforementioned disciplines and dimensions. Therefore in order to understand the factors influencing the implementation of the OOP, it would be firstly important to identify and analyse the critical factors generally affecting the implementation of various e-government initiatives and projects. According to the studied literature, it is possible to classify the factors into four broad categories - these are 1) technological factors, 2) organisational factors, 3) institutional and political factors, and 4) demand side factors. Following chapter highlights the factors of each category that might either encourage or hinder the implementation of different e-government initiatives and projects.

1.2 Factors influencing the implementation of e-government initiatives and projects

1.2.1 Technological factors

1.2.1.1 ICT infrastructure

One part of technological factors encompass ICT infrastructure (Hussein *et al.* 2007; Navarro 2016) or technology components such as hardware, software, different ICT-related services, equipment (Egoeze *et al.* 2014), material systems, telecommunications (Fountain 2006, 6), networks, server, internet and data (Ebrahim, Irani 2005) that people with special skills and knowledge use to create "shared and standard services" (Nyrhinen 2008, 5). According to Fountain's (2006) technology enactment framework, such technology components refer to objective technology that is not associated with the real usage by people. As ICT infrastructure has an impact on data transformation and data storage, it is necessary to have a functional infrastructure established before delivering e-services (Al-Rahbi *et al.* 2012). Gichoya (2005) has found that poor ICT infrastructure is one of the main factors that might result in the failure of an e-government project. Thus ICT infrastructure can be considered key factor that has an essential impact on the success of e-government projects and initiatives (Hussein *et al.* 2007; Whyte, Bytheway 1996; Ifinedo, Singh 2011; Ebrahim, Irani 2005; Navarro 2016; Altameem *et al.* 2006; Al-Wazir, Zheng 2014).

1.2.1.2 System and service integration

Fountain (2006) has identified enacted technology that differently from material systems indicate the approaches of the actual usage and implementation of the information system. The development of the features (e.g. services, applications, systems) of enacted technology is usually affected by various institutional and political actors (Fountain 2006 referred in Arduini *et al.* 2013). The idea of the enacted technology can be linked to the idea of an e-government integration that "refers to the embedding and constraining context in which technical interoperation occurs" (Scholl, Klischewski 2007, 897). Scholl and Klischewski (2007) have pointed out that integration is associated with both technical (e.g. interoperation of e-

Government information systems) and non-technical (e.g. cooperation between government units) meanings. Therefore it can be assumed that a successful and effective collaboration between public institutions and private sector is necessary (Sorn-in *et al.* 2015). Layne's and Lee's (2001) theory about integration has put an emphasize on both vertical (i.e. local vs higher level systems) and horizontal system (i.e. integration across functions) integration that would contribute to a successful e-government. Thus based on numerous scholars, integration between e-government systems and services play an essential role in the implementation of e-government initiatives and projects.

1.2.1.3 Interoperability

Charalabidis *et al.* (2009) have stated that interoperability is one of the key factors that can help public sector and e-government reach its full potential. Interoperability can be divided into four main dimensions: technical, semantic, organizational, and legal (Margariti 2018; European Commission 2017b). Moen (2000) explains technical interoperability as a concept that refers to the information exchange and interpretation between different ICT facilities such as computers and networks. In short, it is related to e-government information systems, collaboration among their components, and compatibility in the technical equipment (Goldkuhl 2008, 2-4). Semantic interoperability is associated with the meaning of exchanged data that should be understandable and well interpreted by other applications (Gasco 2012, 4; Guijarro 2009). For achieving semantic operability, it is possible to use for example, classification system, metadata, and thesaurus (Gasco 2012, 4). Organizational interoperability refers to the non-technical aspects (Cave et al. 2017) such as capability of collaboration between systems and organizations (Scholl, Klischewski 2007), resource limitations, and path-dependency factors (Cave et al. 2017, 172). Legal interoperability is related to the congruence between legislation (Goldkuhl 2008, 4; European Commission 2017b, 27) that has an impact on information systems. As interoperability can be one of the central challenges for e-government initiatives, it is important for e-government agencies to thoroughly deal with this topic (Guijarro 2009).

1.2.1.4 ICT standards

Scholars (Alshehri, Drew 2010; Alshehri, Drew 2011) have emphasized the importance of shared ICT standards and strategies that directly influence the performance of e-Government related actions (Alfarraj 2013; Ashaye, Irani 2014, Khanh 2014). Altameem *et al.* (2006) stated that different systems in government organizations can lead to numerous barriers and difficulties of e-government implementation. ICT standards provide a common understanding of procedures, interfaces, and formats, and give clear guidelines for acquisition, management, and practical application (Nyrhinen 2008). Therefore, standards of hardware, software, and systems are required in order to achieve a consistent system that would work in a compatible way and operate on the same basis (Weerakkody *et al.* 2011).

1.2.1.5 Security and privacy

The concept of security can be simply defined as a protection of data and information systems (Alshehri, Drew 2010). It has been argued that in order to secure the collected information (Layne, Lee 2001), online transactions (Ebrahim, Irani 2005, 594), e-government services (Al-Rahbi 2012), and various e-government operations and systems, it is crucial to invest in and establish suitable and proper security mechanisms such as digital signature, encryption, and firewall (Ebrahim, Irani 2005, 601). Courtesy of different security tools, it would be possible to protect data and systems against numerous threats and attacks (Shareef 2016). Furthermore, as e-government services are closely related to private data, government should put a special focus on these factors. Otherwise, lack of attention and action regarding secured collection of data and privacy protection (Alshehri, Drew 2010) can lead to trust issues that in turn might result in failures of e-government projects (Weerakkody *et al.* 2011; Al-Rahbi 2012).

1.2.2 Organisational factors

1.2.2.1 Organisational structure

Organisational structure refers to a "method or framework by which organizational activities are divided, organized, and coordinated (Ahmady *et al.* 2016, 455-456, 2; Daft, Margic 2009,

249). Alisa and Senija (2010) associate organisational structure with interrelated and integrated aspects that are necessary for creating a system. Tran and Tian (2013) have stated that a favorable and suitable organizational structure leads to more achievable goals and better leadership that consequently would contribute to the successful implementation of e-Government initiatives (Makau et al. 2015). One of the key dimensions of the concept are power distribution (i.e. centralization versus decentralization), specialisation, formalization (i.e. standardization), and span of management (Daft, Margic 2009; Alisa, Senija 2010) that all aim at easing various processes in the organization (Nurdin et al. 2012; Wimmer 2002). However, scholars have found that the more traditional organizations tend to be less innovative (Vigoda-Gadot et al. 2005; Moussa et al. 2018) than for example, organizations related to digital technology (i.e. "use of digital processes to carry out work" (Daft, Margic 2009; 278)) that are rather characterized by higher flexibility, decentralization, collaboration, teamwork, and horizontal communication (Daft, Margic 2009, 278-279). Although there is no concrete formula for an ideal organizational structure, it has been found that the correct re-engineering of organisational structure is one of the key elements in achieving success at the implementation of e-government projects (Nurdin et al. 2014).

1.2.2.2 Organisational culture

Organizational culture indicates "shared beliefs, understandings, values, norms and perceptions that members of organization have" (Daft, Margic 2009, 63; Tsai 2011). Thus, the concept refers to the identity and the personality of an organization and approaches on how different activities are carried out (O'Donell, Boyle 2008; Schein 1988). Ren and Zhang (2015) have associated organisational culture with organizational climate by assuming that the more positive and innovative organizational climate would lead to more innovative behaviour. Several other scholars have found that the organizational culture affects the organizational performance (Kanungo, Jain 2011, O'Donell, Boyle 2008; Weerakkody, Choudry 2005). Almutairi (2014) and O'Donell and Boyle (2008) have specified that the nature of culture has a significant impact on the behaviour of individuals that therefore, can either facilitate or hinder different changes and reforms. Thus, if a change is in opposition to values and norms of the organization, the probability of resistance is relatively high (Alshehri, Drew 2011). According to Zeffane (1996), however, the knowledge and awareness of the organizational culture can simplify the process

of a change. Albirini (2006) and Irani *et al.* (2005) contented that the lack of emphasis on aspects and dimensions of organizational culture can put the successful implementation of e-government initiatives at risk. Therefore, it would be essential for governments to be well prepared for changes and pay a strong attention to the organizational culture.

1.2.2.3 Qualification and training of employees

The availability of qualified personnel is a crucial factor in order to develop ICT-related services (Kumar, Best 2007; Alassim *et al.* 2017, Alshehri, Drew 2010; Al-Wazir, Zheng 2014; Evangelidis *et al.* 2002). Several scholars have found that governments usually lack sufficient ICT skills, knowledge, and experiences (Alassim *et al.* 2017; Mawela *et al.* 2017; Elkadi 2013; Ndou 2004). Furthermore, highly qualified people generally prefer private sector due to competitive salary, better compensation package, and higher flexibility (Bhuiyan 2011). However, according to Pudjianto and Hangjung (2009) and Kazmi (2011), ICT expertise is one of the key factors that support the implementation of e-government projects and therefore, it would be vital to pay a significant attention to this aspect. In order to better prepare for and adapt to various changes and technological developments, it is necessary to provide employees with trainings, workshops, and education that would help them to develop skills and acquire necessary knowledge (Weerakkody *et al.* 2011). Therefore, it can be said that a successful implementation of e-government projects assumes not only ICT skills but also expertise and competence related to technology, management, commerce, and politics (Gil-Garcia, Pardo 2005; Ndou 2004).

1.2.2.4 Management support and leadership

Several scholars have discussed that top management support can lead to positive environment by strengthening and encouraging e-participation (Akbulut 2003; Alshehri, Drew 2010a; Al-Wazir, Zheng 2014; Baguma, Lubega 2013), decrease the resistance to different changes (Alshehri, Drew 2010b), and result in an adequate funding in order to better implement egovernment projects (Detlor *et al.* 2010). Alassim *et al.* (2017) found that management support is directly connected to several other factors such as visioning and planning. Therefore, it is important for high-level leaders to have clear, realistic, and integrated vision and plans in order to successfully implement e-government initiatives (Alassim *et al.* 2017; Huda, Yunas 2016). Ndou (2004) has emphasized that the leadership is needed in all stages of the implementation before, during, and after (Ndou 2004, 16). Thus, as leaders and high-level employees influence the decision-making processes and organizational performance (Moussa *et al.* 2018), there can be also a significant impact on the implementation of e-government initiatives and projects.

1.2.2.5 Financial resources

Several scholars have emphasized the importance of sufficient financial resources when implementing e-government projects (Thi *et al.* 2014; Al-Wazir, Zheng 2014; Gichoya 2005). An adequate budget is necessary to build ICT infrastructure, hire skilled personnel, provide high-quality training programs, and improve competencies (Nabafu, Maiga 2012). Lam's (2005) research findings have shown the significance of financial framework that would be particularly necessary for long-term and large-scale projects. Field *et al.* (2003) have emphasized the need for shared budgetary arrangements that would both require and encourage collaboration and coordination between different governmental agencies and departments. Such nature of shared arrangements and cooperation can thus, lead more likely to successful implementation of e-government projects (Field *et al.* 2003). However, decisions regarding funding are largely affected by top management of government who has power to make the final decisions (Weerakkody 2011). This, in consequence, can influence the implementation of e-government initiatives in both positive and negative way. Therefore, budget and funding related decisions have an essential impact on ICT related implementations.

1.2.2.6 Collaboration and coordination

According to Ndou (2004), collaboration and coordination among governmental organizations and departments play an essential role in "providing integrated online services at a single contact point" (Ndou 2004, 10). Furthermore, the successful implementation of ICT related solutions also requires collaboration and partnerships between several other parties such as private sector, research institutions, non-profit organizations, and universities (Ndou 2004; Alshehri and Drew 2010b). Collaboration, however, expects shared understandings and common aims and goals as otherwise, it might result in e-government failure (Lam 2005). Lack of collaboration and lack

of vertical and horizontal coordination (OECD 2015) between various stakeholders, particularly government organizations and public agencies, can impede coherence and therefore affect the success of implementation of e-government projects (Abu-Shanab 2015; Nurdin *et al.* 2014). Furthermore, coordination and collaboration helps to minimize silos and thus also avoid duplications, contradictions, and communication problems (Peters 2018). Hence, coordination and collaboration can lead to achievable objectives, harmonious work, increased knowledge and thus, a better e-government implementation (Nurdin *et al.* 2014).

1.2.3 Institutional and political factors

1.2.3.1 Regulations and rules

The implementation of e-government initiatives and projects requires different rules, laws, regulations and policies (Alshehri, Drew 2010a; Sarrayrih, Sriram 2015; Naidoo 2012; Bjorn, Fathul 2008) that are necessary for undertaking online activities (Ndou 2004). Supportive legal and regulatory frameworks and conducive political environment have a significant impact on the success of the implementation of e-government projects (Abbasi 2005 referred to Obegi 2016, 7). Belachew (2010) has stated that e-government strategies and national ICT policies lead to "seamless interactions between e-Government initiatives" (Belachew 2010, 51). Gupta and Singh (2014) have viewed regulatory framework and policies as an essential basis for the environment that encourages knowledge sharing and knowledge management on government online portals. In addition, formulation of e-government related laws contribute to stronger security and privacy that are essential regarding "transactions between organizations and individuals" (Ndou 2004). Thus, it can be assumed that different regulations, rules, laws, and policies play a significant role in the implementation of e-government projects.

1.2.3.2 Political will and support

Several scholars have found that lack of political will, support and strong political leadership might result in failures of e-government projects (Ndou 2004; Furufolt, Wahid 2008; Schuppan 2009; Mkude, Wimmer 2016). Political leaders have the power to decide whether an e-government initiative is necessary and receives sufficient funding or not. (Evangelidis *et al.*

2002) Therefore, the success of e-government projects depends largely on political leaders' interests, priorities, and political desires (Nabafu, Maiga 2012; Al-Busaidy 2011). Furthermore, political leaders who understand the benefits from encouragement and promotion of e-government projects tend to support similar initiatives (Alshehri, Drew 2010; Al-Busaidy 2011). Bjorn and Fatful (2008) have found that strong political leadership, political support and a concrete vision can contribute to more efficient and successful management and problem-solving processes.

1.2.4 Demand side factors

According to e-government related literature, demand side factors refer to users' (i.e. citizens' and businesses') adoption and usage of e-government and e-services (Al-Khateeb *et al.* 2015; Reddick 2005). Differently from the supply side factors, demand side factors are associated with the "perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, interest, and trust" (Kunstelj, Vintar 2004; Hujran *et al.* 2013). However, despite of governments' ambitions directing efforts and resources into the implementation and development of different e-government initiatives and projects, the materialization of demand might not always be self-evident and certain (Reddick 2005, 54). Lack of awareness and education among e-government "customers" (Al-Khateeb *et al.* 2015, 106) can significantly hinder the adoption of e-government (Rahman *et al.* 2014) and therefore most likely lead to a failure. Furthermore, accessibility of public services (Cave *et al.* 2017), user-friendly interfaces, highly advanced authentication processes, and well-developed security mechanisms play also a crucial role in shaping the demand for e-government solutions (Ahmad *et al.* 2012). Thus it can be assumed that demand side factors similarly to supply side factors, have an important impact on the implementation of e-government initiatives and projects.

1.2.5 Key factors influencing the implementation of the OOP

Literature review demonstrated four broad category of factors that should be taken into account when trying to understand the factors influencing the implementation of e-government projects in the public sector. As the OOP is associated with disciplines such public sector innovation, ICT, and e-government, it can be assumed that the successful implementation of the OOP depends on the synergies between all mentioned factors. However, when analysing the specificities of the OOP, some factors can be highlighted (Table 1).

First, as the OOP is related to the data exchange between different public organizations, the "inter- and intra-organizational cooperation, coordination and collaboration" can be considered crucial factors (Kalvet *et al.* 2018, 3). In order to avoid communication problems and silos, reduce public officials' resistance to change and sharing data, and increase awareness of the benefits of the implementation of the OOP, the management support and leadership can significantly support achieving these aims. Moreover, trainings of employees could contribute to better preparedness for changes in the workflows (Kalvet *et al.* 2018, 3; Cave *et al.* 2017; Gallo *et al.* 2015).

Second, the OOP is associated with several technical concepts such as information systems, registers, databases, data exchange, interoperability, and so forth. As the OOP is an egovernment concept, the availability of an advanced ICT infrastructure is one of the key requirements for implementing the principle. Furthermore, in order to exchange, reuse, and update the data, it would be important to select and use technological architecture and technological systems that would support the implementation of the OOP (Cave et al. 2017, 163). The next factor that should not receive less attention is interoperability. Since the OOP is based on the data exchange between different organisations and their information systems, the information systems should seamlessly communicate with each other, and exchange and consistently use the data (Shiferaw et al. 2018). Similarly to technical interoperability, semantic, organisational and legal interoperability are also essential to highlight. All of these factors refer to the compatibility, seamless data exchange between public authorities and clear interpretation of exchanged data by other systems. Moreover, it would be essential to prioritize also ICT standards, especially open standards as these support and increase the interoperability. (Vallner et al. 2017) The implementation of the OOP is also associated with personal information. Therefore the lack of data protection mechanisms and incoherently defined security requirements might lead to a project failure. Hence the existence of legal acts and regulations stipulating the specific rules for a secure data exchange can contribute to avoiding such issues. (Cave et al. 2017, 161; Kalvet et al. 2018, 3) Furthermore, provision and usage of e-services require also secured electronic identification and authentication systems that according to Cave *et al.* 2017 is an essential enabler of the OOP implementation (Cave *et al.* 2017, 166).

Third, as the OOP is associated with the provision of digital services, demand side factors such as citizens' and businesses' perceived usefulness and trust regarding e-government services can also have a substantial impact on the OOP implementation. These factors may decide whether the demand for the OOP will be modest or not. (Cave *et al.* 2017, 175; Gallo *et al.* 2015; Kalvet *et al.* 2018) Fourth, the initiation and application of the OOP need an efficient amount of public funding. Therefore the political support can play an influential role in achieving this. (Cave *et al.* 2017; Gallo *et al.* 2015; Kalvet *et al.* 2018)

When summarising the theoretical findings on the factors influencing the implementation of the OOP, the following became apparent. First, it is necessary to look at the OOP in the context of several public sector organisations and second, the implementation of the OOP requires the availability of key technological factors. Therefore it can be assumed that both organisational and technological factors play a core role also regarding the implementation of the OOP in Estonia. The research gap in the academic literature became also clear. First, a few available studies on the OOP mainly focus on the cross-border implementation. Thus there is lack of indepth analyses and case studies on the OOP and the factors influencing the implementation of the e-government projects analysed the influencing factors in a more general way. However, differentiation between preconditions leading to the implementation of the OOP and the factors influencing the actual implementation of the OOP could develop and enrich the understanding of this topic. Therefore the following case study tries to contribute to filling the research gaps by giving a comprehensive historical overview of the implementation of the OOP in Estonia.

Table 1. Factors influencing the implementation of e-government initiatives and projects

KEY FACTORS INFLUENCING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF OOP

TECHNOLOGICAL	ORGANIZATIONAL	INSTITUTIONAL	DEMAND SIDE	POLITICAL
ICT infrastructure; Interoperability; ICT standards; Security, privacy	Collaboration and coordination between organizations; Management support and leadership; Trainings of employees; Organizational culture	Legal acts, rules, regulations	Perceived usefulness and trust	Political support and will

Source: Author, based on literature review.

2. CASE STUDY: THE ONCE-ONLY PRINCIPLE IN ESTONIA

2.1 Research Methodology

As this thesis aims to study the implementation of the once-only principle in Estonia, the qualitative research approach was chosen. As qualitative research design helps to understand and describe the perspectives and meanings of a social or a cultural phenomenon (Astalin 2013; Maxwell 2013), this design is suitable to comprehend the main preconditions that led to the implementation of OOP as well as factors that influenced the actual implementation of the OOP infrastructure.

Due to a qualitative nature of the thesis, the case study research methodology was chosen. The main aim of the **case study** is "to thoroughly explore a real-life phenomenon (Thomas 2011, 512-513) that gives an opportunity to understand complex matters" (Zainal 2007; Yin 2009, 18). Yin (2009) highlights that the case study helps to comprehend a phenomenon in a real-life context. The relevance of the case study depends on the research questions (i.e. how and why). However, the case study research can be also suitable when the research questions "require an extensive and thorough description of a phenomenon" (Yin 2009, 4). According to Yin (2009), there can be three types of case studies, i.e. exploratory, descriptive, and explanatory. In addition, a case study can include either a single case or many cases. (Yin 2009, 5) When collecting evidence, it is possible to for example, conduct interviews, analyse documents or do observations (Alpi, Evans 2019).

The aim of this thesis is to understand the key factors that influenced the implementation of the OOP in Estonia. Therefore the thesis meets the criteria to understand and explore a phenomenon

in a real-life context. As the thesis tries to give an in-depth overview of the influencing factors, a descriptive type of a case study was selected. Although the main research question of this paper is "what", the nature of the question is not only descriptive but it also tries to understand the relationships between the phenomena (e.g. how do particular factors affect the introduction of the OOP). The thesis includes a single case and the main sources of data are interviews and documents.

There are two main reasons for choosing Estonia for the case study. Firstly, Estonia has implemented the greatest number of seamlessly working OOP use cases at the national level (Vallner *et al.* 2017, 14-16; Blau *et al.* 2015; Krimmer *et al.* 2017; Gallo *et al.* 2015, 4, 29). Secondly, Estonia is well-developed in the digital field and ranked relatively high for its various e-government and digital aspects (Kattel, Mergel 2018, 1; European Commission 2018; United Nations 2018). Therefore, Estonia can be taken as a good example for identifying both the success factors and also potential barriers. The case study helps to understand how different barriers were overcome and therefore could provide useful lessons for other countries.

2.1.1 Data Collection

For establishing validity and credibility of the research findings, it is important to find and use the information from multiple sources of evidence (Yin 2009, 18). Therefore the data collection included semi-structured interviews and document analysis. Semi-structured interviews were conducted with Estonian e-government specialists and experts, policymakers, top civil servants, ICT developers, and academics. A total of seven interviews were conducted in February-April 2019. Although the interview questions were prepared before (Appendix 1), there was also room for free discussions. Six interviews were carried out in the form of face-to-face meetings, one interview was conducted by e-mail. For recording interviews, both audio recording and written notes were used. As two of the interviewees asked to anonymise their identity, it was decided to anonymise all interviewees' identities for ensuring the confidentiality. Interview questions and list of interviewees can be found from Appendix 1. The responses of interviewees were transcribed and analysed. The analysis of interviews included reading and re-reading the interviews and finding information for example, on historical facts and stakeholders' understanding of the important factors that influenced the implementation of the OOP in Estonia.

In addition to interviews, also a document analysis was carried out. The main purpose of the document analysis is to "systematically review or evaluate documents" (Bowen 2009, 27). In this thesis, different types of relevant documents such as studies on the OOP, policy documents, audits, research papers, media articles, and different government, legal and other documents were utilized. The document analysis aimed to complement the information found from the interviews. The document analysis included information for instance, on historical facts and the developments of the implementation of the OOP. Ultimately, document analysis is a useful way for providing information on the background and context and confirming findings from the interviews (Bowen 2009, 29-30).

2.1.2 Limitations

One limitation of the case study research is associated with the issue of generalization (Yin 2009, 15). According to Yin (2009), a single case study can be suitable for generalizing theories but not for generalizing "populations or universes" (Yin 2009, 15). It has been also found that conclusions based on a single case might fail to present the reality. Therefore in order to reach better generalisability, it is crucial to pay a special attention to an accuracy and cautiousness. (Wikfeldt 1993, 8-9) Other limitations are associated with the issue of methodological rigour and reliability. These limitations refer to a lack of systematic procedures, author's subjectivity and biased understandings. In order to reduce such risks, it is essential to use multiple methods for finding evidence, properly follow the methodology, and make conclusions in a neutral manner. (Yin 2014, 14-15; Willis 2014)

2.2 Case of Estonia

The first references to OOP in Estonia started to emerge already in the end of 1990s. Today, Estonia is the only member state in the EU that can be characterized by seamlessly working OOP cases in different domains. (Vallner *et al.* 2017; Blau 2015) However, the success has not

come without difficulties. In addition, even today, there are still some domains where OOP does not function yet and thus should be developed and improved further. Nevertheless, in comparison with other EU member states, Estonia can be still considered one of the OOP leaders. The following sub-chapters of the case study will give a detailed overview of the development of the implementation of the OOP between 1990s until the first years of 2000s. For a better understanding and structuring, different preconditions and influencing factors that led to the implementation of the OOP (1991-2000) and factors that influenced the actual implementation of the OOP infrastructure (2000-2004) have been marked in bold. The analysis of the case study ends with 2004 as by that time the beginning phase of the implementation of the OOP infrastructure ended and the further developments of the OOP began. A summarising table of the key factors (Table 2) will be presented in the end of this chapter.

2.2.1 First steps towards the implementation of OOP (1991-1997)

The first steps and preparations towards the initiation of the OOP in Estonia started already in the beginning of 1990s. Having regained independence from the Soviet Union in 1991, Estonia immediately started to focus on the development of ICT and information society (Kalvet 2001, 12; Kalvet 2007, 10; Interview I, II, III, IV, V, VI, VII). Only three years after the reestablishment of independence, Estonia created the first information strategy paper (Kalvet 2007, 10-11; Siil, Ott 2003) identifying ICT as a crucial precondition "for achieving a global economic competitiveness and integration to the European Union" (Eesti Informaatikanõukogu 1994, 3-4). Among several other topics, the strategy also indicated the issues associated with an inadequate level of development of the system of registries. By 1994, there were 22 national registers in Estonia. (Eesti Informaatikanõukogu 1994, 11; Riiklike registrite seaduse eelnõu seletuskiri 1995) These registers were maintained in the State Computing Centre and coordinated by the Department of State Information Systems under the Government Office (Eesti Informaatikanõukogu 1994, 11). One of the main problems regarding the system of registries was related to the complexity of data collection, establishment of registries, and understanding of how databases were organized (Eesti Informaatikanõukogu 1994, 11). Another important problem was associated with data duplication in the registries and databases. As Estonia was a young country, there were not enough financial resources to afford the duplications. (Interview I, III) For example, until 2000, approximately 1% from the state budget

was planned for the costs of ICT development (Harjo, Kasendi 2001, 10; Krull 2003, 60) that comparing to other countries was relatively modest (Kitsing 2011, 6). Thus, in order to reduce duplications and administrative burden, save money, improve the quality of data, and mitigate the confusion regarding the system of registries, it was crucial to reduce, organise and ensure a more efficient functioning of registries (Interview I, III, IV, VI).

For achieving those aims, the government started to review the existing legislative framework. It was found that The National Registers Act of the Estonian Soviet Socialist Republic that entered into force in 1990 to regulate the state registers (Eesti NSV riiklike registrite seadus 1990) was outdated. For instance, the act was still based on the legislation of Estonian Soviet Socialist Republic. Moreover, it could not take into account ICT developments and clearly stipulate the specific requirements for establishing and keeping the registers. (Eesti Informaatikanõukogu 1994, 15; Riiklike registrite seaduse eelnõu seletuskiri 1995) Therefore in 1995 the government initiated the National Registers legislative proposal that repealed the National Registers Act and formed the basis for the new **Databases Act** (Riiklike registrite seaduse eelnõu seletuskiri 1995). The new act entered into force in 1997 (AKS 1997).

Differently from the predecessor, Databases Act was based on the Estonian government structure, formulated more specifically different definitions of databases, and stipulated concrete requirements and rules regarding the maintenance and usage of both databases and data output (Riiklike registrite seaduse eelnõu seletuskiri 1995; AKS 1997). Therefore one of the essential aims of the act was to optimize the existing system of registries and increase the availability of data. It can be said that the Databases Act was the first formal document that provided a legal basis and reference to the OOP in Estonia as according to its §20 (4), "public authorities were prohibited to keep similar or repetitive databases" (AKS 1997, Interview I, VII). Although the Database Act did not directly stipulate the requirement of asking data from citizens and businesses only once, the act was still a significant achievement in the implementation of the OOP as it enabled to move closer to the facilitation of data exchanges among public organisations.

2.2.2.1 Overview of the data exchange in the end of 1990s

In order for public authorities to complete various legislative obligations and verify the existing data they had, the Databases Act expected public institutions to share the data between each other and at the same time, to follow the rules of the **Personal Data Protection Act** (1996). At that time, the main possibilities for data exchange were either wholly or partly by automatic electronic means or by non-electronic means (AKS 1997; IKS 1996; Interview I, II).

Electronic data exchange usually occurred bilaterally between two public organisations (Harjo, Kasendi, 18-20; Arula et al. 2006, 19, 70). Although paragraph 12 of the Databases Act (AKS 1997) highlighted the data reuse, in reality it was rather an exception than the rule (Harjo, Kasendi 2001). According to Harjo and Kasendi (2001), by the end of 2000, only two (i.e. information systems of national treasury and tax authority) from the thirteen examined information systems were successful at data reuse. One of the main reasons for little interest in data reuse was associated with the insufficient and uneven quality level of information systems, data security and data protection mechanisms. Several other factors such as incompetence, low level of collaboration among public institutions, lack of both technical solutions and data-protection standards, and poor data compatibility also limited data reuse (Harjo, Kasendi 2001, 16-18, 33) Moreover, at that time, there was neither a national development plan for the base registries (Harjo, Kasendi, 33) nor a general strategy for egovernment implementation (Kitsing 2011, 16) that would have put the concrete guidelines and plans for the future in place. As it can be concluded from the National Audits from 2001 and 2002, "most databases and information systems created between 1993 and 1999 rather focused on their own areas of responsibility than the collaboration with other public authorities" (Harjo, Kasendi 2001; Riigikontroll 2002b, 4). Therefore, silos were a common phenomenon in the public sector.

Another reason for the poor data reuse was related to existing legislation. Firstly, the definition and basis for the data reuse was not thoroughly and clearly explained in the Databases Act (AKS 1997; Riigikontroll 2002b, 16). Secondly, as the Personal Data Protection Act entered into force one year before the Databases Act came into force, i.e. 1996, there was no reference to the data reuse in the Personal Data Protection Act (IKS 1996) that in a way, created slight conflicts

regarding the reuse of data (Interview I, II, III, IV, VII). On the other hand, a legal basis for reusing the personal data was stipulated in the $\S12$ (2) of Databases Act that permitted to reuse personal data under the supervisory authority of data protection, i.e. Estonian Data Protection Inspectorate. However, it can be assumed that various privacy concerns regarding the personal data (e.g. legal basis, information security standards, certain organisational and technical levels) made the reuse of personal data difficult and confusing. (AKS 1997; IKS 1996; Interview II, III) In addition, authorisation from the Estonian Data Protection Inspectorate and different other related processes were relatively time-consuming and bureaucratic (Interview I) that also impeded the process of moving towards data reuse. Thirdly, the Databases Act left room for interpretation. According to the law, data reuse was permitted among the databases registered in the national register of databases. However, the situation regarding other information systems of public organisations remained unclear and vague. (AKS 1997; RRS 2000; Riigikontroll 2002b) Nevertheless, although the confusion and uncertainty regarding the laws played an important role in hindering the smooth adoption of data reuse, in reality different interpretations were not considered major barriers to data reuse. Rather, some public authorities saw the interpretations as an excuse for not making an effort to further develop their information systems. However, for clarifying the legal framework, different stakeholders encouraged policy makers to adjust the laws in a way that would support the data reuse better. (Interviewee II)

A more common means of data exchange in the 1990s were simpler bilateral electronic data exchanges or data transfers through data networks. Similarly to data reuse, these means required also information systems and security mechanisms with a sufficient level of quality. (AKS 1997) For instance, some information systems that successfully exchanged data were the information systems of customs authority, social security, and land register. On the other hand, there were also cases regarding several information systems where such data exchanges did not operate adequately. For such cases, authorised personnel provided public organisations with an access to the particular databases. (Harjo, Kasendi 2001, 18-20; Interview I)

However, sometimes data sharing could not happen by electronic means. In these cases data was shared by non-automatic means via a digital or printed medium such as floppy disks, post, or telephone (RRS 2000; Riigikontroll 2002b; Interview I, II). Finally, as no formal document

forbade asking the same data several times, public institutions often requested necessary data directly from the citizens or businesses (Interviewee II). Therefore although the awareness of various rules regarding databases and data exchange was created, its practical implementation was still in the early stage of development (Oone 1999 referred to Raidmaa 2016, 15; Riigikontroll 2002a; Riigikontroll 2002b; Interview II, IV).

2.2.3 Initiation of stronger basis for OOP-based infrastructure, X-tee (1997-2000)

After the Databases Act (AKS 1997) entered into force, many databases' owners started to put a greater emphasis on the approaches on how to start exchanging the data (Interview IV). In addition, constantly developing data processing tasks required some public databases to introduce the data exchange between several other databases (Kalja 2004, 7). These reasons led to the situation where the main coordinators of ICT - i.e. the Department of State Information Systems and Estonian Informatics Centre (Riigikontroll 2005) - started to receive several applications from different public authorities to establish bilateral data links between separate databases. However, as the actual number of applications significantly exceeded the initial estimates, it was necessary to find other solutions. (Interview I, IV) It was understood that the architecture based on bilateral agreements was expensive, inefficient, and time-consuming (Odrats 2005, 17, 24; Interview I, IV, VI). Although the amount of allocated financial resources from the state budget was sufficient to achieve a relatively consistent development of ICT infrastructure in Estonia, there were several countries that spent at least two or three times more on ICT (Harjo, Kasendi 2001, 20, Riigikontroll 2002b, 21; Riigikontroll 2005, 10-11). Therefore, as Estonia was not economically prosperous country, it was crucial to find more cost-efficient and systemic solutions (Interviewee I, III, IV) instead of concluding expensive and inefficient bilateral agreements.

In addition to limited financial resources, there were also other factors that led to the understanding of the necessity of better solutions for data exchange. In the end of 1990s, many ICT infrastructure components had **different levels of security** (Odrats 2005, 32) that usually were not sufficiently secure for the electronic data exchange. Furthermore, during 1990s some

incidents that were associated with the **misuse of data** (i.e. Imre Perl's super-database¹ or lost floppy discs) occurred. Therefore, it was understood that in order to avoid such issues and ensure greater security and privacy, a highly secured system of data exchange was crucial to implement (Interview I; Veldre 2015). Moreover, due to a lack of cooperation between public institutions and very limited acceptance and implementation of data reuse, there was still a lot of unnecessary **data duplication** in different databases (Odrats 2005, 32; Interview I, II, III, IV, VII) that made the existing system more expensive and complicated. For example, the existence of two databases with same or similar data made it difficult to identify and determine the database with more authentic and suitable data for performing public duties (Interview III).

Thus in order to save costs, increase the quality and reliability of data and ensure the secure, comprehensive, efficient and systematic approach for exchanging data, there was a plan to develop a single set of standardised solutions that would modernize the public registries and databases (Kalja 2004; Ansper 2001; Kindel, Kivi 2010; Interview I, III, VI). In 1998, under the coordination of the Department of State Information Systems, the first preparations for initiating the data exchange layer X-tee began (Veldre 2015; Interview I, IV). In 2000, the pilot project of X-tee was established (Veldre 2015; Riigi Infosüsteemi Amet 2017; Interview I, VI). As the prototype built **trust** among government stakeholders and increased an understanding of the importance and usefulness of the initiative, Government Office, Ministry of Transport and Communications, and Ministry of Internal Affairs decided to finance the program. At the beginning of 2001, several seminars and meetings on further development ideas with various stakeholders took place. The main aim of these meetings was to develop a precise concept of the project before carrying out the public procurement procedures. Soon, the draft programme of the implementation of X-tee specifying the problem, aim of the project, and structure was submitted to the government. (Riigi Infosüsteemi Amet 2017; Interview I; VI) The public procurement processes were held in April and in May 2001 (Riigi Infosüsteemi Amet 2017) with several participants such as IBM, Microlink, and AS Assert (Kalja 2004, 12). After the winning tenderer AS Assert was announced, in December 2001 the actual implementation of X-

¹ Reference to the article: <u>https://www.postimees.ee/2492559/imre-perli-laks-ise-politseisse-tudines-end-varjamast-politsei-delikaatne-olukord-pala-onnetuse-uurimine-tuleb-peatada-veoautojuht-ei-suuda-anda-seletusi-varastatud-suur-kogus-parkla-magnetkaarte</u>

tee started (Riigi Infosüsteemi Amet 2017; Interview IV). With this, an infrastructure providing a stronger basis for the OOP was created.

2.2.4 Implementation and developments of X-tee (2000-2004)

The initial purpose of the X-tee was to modernize the system of national databases (Krull 2003, 62) by establishing and developing instruments and mechanisms for secure internet-based data exchange between public institutions and national databases (Ansper 2001, 6; Kalja 2004; Arula et al. 2006; Combe et al. 2006, 15) regardless the platforms and architecture of the information systems (Riigi Infosüsteemi Amet 2017). One of the visions of X-tee was also to focus on citizens and enterprises by giving them the opportunity to receive and provide information on the basis of legislation (Riigi Infosüsteemide Amet 2017). In addition, there was an idea on the political level to develop citizen-centred service-based thinking further (Odrats 2005). However, as the focus in 2001 was more on simple data inquiries from a single database and server solutions than on the service-based architecture that required complex data inquiry mechanisms (Odrats 2005, 37), this approach did not function yet. The main reasons for this were both the lack of supportive technology and clear understanding of the service-based architecture - such approaches were still at the very early stage and thus not widespread (Interview I, VI). Hence the development of well-functioning e-services for citizens and enterprises was in a relatively rudimentary stage (Odrats 2005; Interview I, II, III). Therefore information systems were rather designed with the convenience of public officials in mind (Arula et al. 2006, 11).

In 2002, the situation started to change with the development of the first governmental portal. The portal that was meant for citizens, helped to ease the communication between citizens and public institutions, private sector, and non-governmental sector by allowing them to use different e-services. Moreover, citizens had an opportunity to see and review their own personal data from the databases that had joined the X-tee. (Tänavsuu 2003; Äripäev 2003; Riigi Infosüsteemi Amet 2018) Nevertheless, the number of public e-services at that time was relatively low including only 20 e-services (Kalja *et al.* 2015, 625).

The idea of the implementation of X-tee received support among different stakeholders and the start of the actual implementation progressed relatively well. Firstly, a relatively **high political support** played an essential role in the initiation and implementation of the project. The central reasons for the support were related to a common ICT-enthusiasm and a practical need for the solution for saving costs and time, and reducing bureaucracy (Interview I, II, IV, VII; Kitsing 2011, 5-6). Nonetheless, it was still possible to notice some **resistance** among medium-level officials mainly due to a **habit of using old and familiar methods** for data exchange (Interview II, V, VI). However, courtesy of the **encouragement** of the project **by high-level officials and politicians**, some of the fears were dispelled (Interview II). For example, in order to speed up the implementation process of X-tee, in 2001, three ministers, Minister for Transport and Communications, Minister for Internal Affairs, and Minister of Justice, concluded a protocol for cooperation (Riigikontroll 2002a, 98; Interview I, II). Furthermore, **parallel discussions on** the initiation of **electronic identity** (eID) and digital signature played a crucial role in consensus-building and the development of a common understanding regarding the importance of similar projects (Interview I, IV).

In addition to the political support, there was also **support from the private sector**. For example, several commercial banks recognized the potential benefits from the implementation of X-tee, understood the importance of cooperation with public sector and therefore were interested in contributing to the project (Kalja 2004, 11; Interview I, II, IV). Internet banking, introduced in 1996, had become highly accepted and trusted by Estonian internet users (Kitsing 2011, 9). Therefore as banks were found reliable, Estonian Information Centre and the main commercial banks (e.g. Hansapank, Ühispank, Sampo Pank, Krediidipank) concluded contracts to provide the authentication and authorisation services for the users of citizens' portal (Kitsing 2011, 9; Riigi Infosüsteemi Amet 2002; Interview II, IV).

Different private companies on the other hand, were responsible for providing technical solutions. For instance, while AS Cybernetica supported with architecture and security solutions, other private sector companies helped carry out the testing of registries. (Riigi Infosüsteemi Amet 2017; Interview II, IV, VI, VII). Even IBM, one of the largest information technology companies in the world, had a strong interest in winning the public procurement

process in 2001 to provide their own software services for the X-tee. However, although IBM's proposal was well formulated, the proposed cost was extremely high. As Estonia did not have enough financial resources, the government preferred cooperation with smaller Estonian enterprises that had a **common goal** to contribute to the implementation of X-tee. (Interview II, III; Ströbele *et al.* 2017, 8) Moreover, the initiators of X-tee did not depend on the international corporations' ideas but had more flexibility to design their own solutions for the OOP infrastructure (Interview II, III).

At the beginning of the implementation process, however, **misunderstandings with** some **academics** occurred. While academics were rather interested in creating a theoretical ICT-related scheme before implementing X-tee, the Department of State Information Systems found that due to complex government systems and structure, the only reasonable way to implement the infrastructure was using the **trial and error method** that is a principle of an agile implementation. However, after several discussions, a common understanding regarding the usefulness of the **agile implementation** was still established and the cooperation among government, companies and academics was created. (Interview II)

Similarly to a support and a good collaboration, a **flexible and young legal system** with a minimal level of bureaucracy played also an important role in the implementation of X-tee (Kattel, Mergel 2018, 7; Interviewee II, III, IV, V). This allowed to prioritize and focus on the design of the ICT architecture and the actual implementation of X-tee than strictly follow rules and other legislative documents (Kitsing 2011, 8-9; Interview I, IV). Therefore it was not difficult for the initiators of X-tee to first experiment and build up a functioning system and afterwards to adapt the system to the legislation. Although there were several civil servants from the Ministry of Justice who did not find the approach legally correct (Interview I, II), in general, the Ministry supported the implementation of X-tee (Interview V). Compared to other countries, Estonian government managed relatively easily and quickly to implement acts and legislative changes that supported the development of e-government (Combe *et al.* 2006, 13). It can be assumed that high political support, common goals, a practical need for the OOP infrastructure, and an evolving legislative system contributed to the use of the flexible and experimental approach for the implementation of X-tee (Interview I).
Another important factor that facilitated the initiation and implementation of X-tee was the **personal identity code** (PIC) that allowed to identify a concrete person and different records of the person (Herm *et al.* 2006, 14). The personal identity code, introduced in 1992 during the monetary reform, led to a creation of family lists that included data about names, date of birth, and gender (The World Bank 2015, 10; Martens 2010, 214). Later, a unified and a unique personal identity code became a core element for the data exchange between public organisations (Interviewee IV, V) and also eID (Ströbele *et al.* 2017).

The launch of **ID-card** in 2002 was another factor that significantly supported the implementation and further developments of X-tee (Interview I, IV). The aim of the ID-card was not only to focus on the physical identification (Stöbele *et al.* 2017, 10) but to also provide secure and sophisticated functions of authentication, digital signatures, and electronic identification (eID) (The World Bank 2015, 25; Martens 2010, 216). As one of the purposes of the developments of X-tee was to strongly focus on the improvement of security, the eID seemed to be a more proper identification solution for the online transactions than the identification systems provided by commercial banks (Kitsing 2011, 10; Interview I).

However, despite of several drivers, the beginning of the implementation of X-tee was considered challenging (Interview I, II, III, IV, VI, V, VII). First, between 2000 and 2001 the **public funding** for ICT related costs **decreased** (Interview I; Riigikontroll 2005, 10). While in the 1990s the costs related to ICT development were centrally financed by the state budget, since 2000 the budget for ICT expenditure was included in the threshold of the budget for the ministries. Due to the new arrangement, State Department of Information Systems found it more difficult to directly target the financial resources towards different ICT development **ICT was moved** from the Government Office to the Ministry of Transport and Communications that in 2002 was merged with the Ministry of Economic Affairs (Riigikontroll 2005, 11). However, this arrangement led to a situation where other ministries started to associate the ICT development with only one concrete ministry. The reason for this was the lack of responsibility

for the development of their own ICT systems. This in turn decreased ministries' motivation for cooperation regarding ICT matters. (Interview III)

Second, although the infrastructure of ID-card was a significant driver regarding the implementation of the OOP infrastructure, the initial integration did not go as planned. The ID-card was meant for identifying and authenticating the users of the citizens' portal (Riigikontroll 2005, 15-16). However, as the portal had only a few e-services at that time, citizens were **not** very **motivated to use the eID**. Furthermore, the low interest in ID-cards was also caused by a lack of awareness of the opportunity. Instead, citizens rather preferred to continue using familiar authentication methods such as PIN calculators and password cards offered by banks. (Stöbele *et al.* 2017, 11-12)

Other hindering factors were related to the organisational aspects. First, there was some uncertainty among public organisations regarding the legality of the electronic data exchange via X-tee. As the first regulation on the application of the data exchange layer X-tee entered into force only in 2004 (Infosüsteemide andmevahetuskihi rakendamine 2003), the first three years of the implementation were rather characterized by experiments and testing. Such approaches made civil servants reluctant to share their organisation's data. Second, some public organisations were afraid of the wrong or misleading decisions that other public authorities could make with the shared data (Interview III). Furthermore, public organisations did not completely understand the necessity of X-tee and thus were not motivated to connect their registers to the data exchange layer (Interview III). In addition, many public officials were used to the existing solutions for data exchange and therefore were relatively resistant to change their habits (Interview II, V, VII). Finally, as in 2003 citizens got an opportunity to review their data in different registries and databases, a lot of incorrect information was identified. Due to a fear of users' criticism of the accuracy and reliability of the data, some public organisations became hesitant to share the data, which hindered the smooth implementation of X-tee (Interview I). Due to the aforementioned reasons, the number of databases that were actually connected with X-tee during the first year was approximately ten times lower than initially planned (Interview IV).

Until the end of 2003, the data exchange and data reuse via X-tee was relatively poor. Although the data exchange layer was seen as a new technological solution, its real value was not clearly understood. One of the key reasons why X-tee continued to exist and did not fail was because of intensive **promotion and marketing** during the first years of the implementation process. (Interview I, III, IV) In addition, the initiators and implementers of X-tee were eager to continuously improve the technology and solutions (e.g. improvements of security systems, creation of more popular e-services) (Interview I). Since 2004, X-tee started to rapidly develop. One of the reasons for this was the **creation of the regulation on the data exchange layer X-tee** that identified the legal basis for the implementation and development of X-tee (Infosüsteemide andmevahetuskihi rakendamine 2003).

The detailed historical overview of the implementation of the OOP between 1990 and 2004 in Estonia demonstrated that in addition to several success factors, there were also hindering factors that slowed down the application and developments of X-tee. However, Estonia was still successful with overcoming the barriers. After the regulation on the data exchange layer X-tee entered into force in 2004, the implementation of the OOP continuously intensified. Today, the OOP is a common principle for providing public services in Estonia.

DISCUSSION

The case study demonstrated numerous factors that influenced the initiation and implementation of the once-only principle (see Table 2 for a summary of the factors). The detailed historical overview of the case enabled to differentiate the preconditions that led to the development of the OOP infrastructure as well as factors that influenced the actual implementation of X-tee. The following discussion tries firstly, to highlight the most important preconditions and factors (Table 2) and secondly, to bring out possible lessons from Estonia that other countries could learn from when implementing the OOP at the national level.

Table 2. Key preconditions and factors that influenced the initiation and implementation of the OOP in Estonia

PRECONDITIONS AND INFLUENCING FACTORS THAT LED TO THE IMPLEMENTATION OF OOP (1991- 2000)	FACTORS THAT INFLUENCED THE ACTUAL IMPLEMENTATION AND DEVELOPMENTS OF THE OOP (2000- 2004)
TECHNOLOGICAL FACTORS	
 Development of the ICT infrastructure Existence and overview of the main registries and databases Inefficient system of registries (e.g. data duplication) Weak security systems for data protection Poor quality of data Complex and time-consuming processes regarding data sharing and data reuse 	 Chosen technology for the implementation of X-tee Data interoperability Strong focus on the development of security systems and mechanisms Launch of ID-card Agile implementation, trial and error method

ORGANISATIONAL FACTORS

 Limited financial resources for establishing bilateral connections with registries and databases – looking for cost-efficiency Management support and leadership Stable allocation of financial resources for ICT developments ICT-enthusiasm Skilled employees Stable coordinating organisation Lack of strong centralized management, inflexible rules and horizontal communication 	 Good collaboration with private and public sector Management support and leadership Uncertainty and lack of awareness among public sector organizations regarding the X-tee Path-dependency, resistance to change Decrease in public funding on ICT-related costs Changes regarding ICT coordination Advanced and skilled employees
INSTITUTIONAL AND POLITICAL FACTORS	
 Political will and support ICT-enthusiasm Creation of Database Act – legal document supporting the OOP Flexible and evolving legal system 	 Strong political support and trust towards the solution Databases Act (1997) Personal Data Protection Act (1996) Flexible and evolving legal system Creation of the regulation on the implementation of the data exchange layer X-tee (2004)
DEMAND SIDE FACTORS	
• Practical need for the OOP infrastructure	 Practical need – public officials, citizens, private sector Trust on the political level regarding the X-tee Lack of awareness and uncertainty among public officials regarding the use of X-tee
OTHER FACTORS	
• Creation of personal identity code (1992)	 Existence and use of personal identity code for data exchange Promotion and marketing of X-tee - raising awareness

Source: Author.

Similarly to theoretical findings on technological factors, the case study proved the importance of the availability of an advanced ICT infrastructure. Large investments in the development of ICT infrastructure between 1993 and 1999 gave an opportunity to establish and modernize the key elements, i.e. information systems, registries and databases, for data exchange and data reuse. According to the interviewees, one of the most crucial technological factors in the later period were the chosen technological systems and solutions for the X-tee infrastructure that were also highlighted in OOP studies. The implementation of X-tee in 2001 permitted disparate information systems to communicate with each other "regardless of the architecture or technology" (Vallner et al. 2017, 110). Therefore X-tee enabled data interoperability that is one of the key factors influencing the successful implementation of the OOP. It is important to also highlight the use of open standards that contributed to achieving a consistent system and helped to increase the interoperability. Furthermore, the case study also confirmed the theoretical findings in regards to the importance of security and privacy. As the OOP projects are directly related to the processing of sensitive data, the implementation of the OOP in Estonia demonstrated already in the beginning a strong focus on the development of high security requirements, authorisation and logging system (Riigi Infosüsteemi Amet 2017). The launch of ID-card (and eID) supported the implementation of X-tee by providing a secure identification service and increasing technical interoperability (Vallner et al. 2017) Differently from the literature, the case study highlighted a new but important factor that contributed to a successful implementation of X-tee, i.e. agile implementation and trial-and-error method. This approach increased flexibility by allowing to develop small parts of the project at the time and thus helped to anticipate possible bottlenecks. With such an approach, Estonia was ahead of time - the dominant logic in the information systems development by then was the linear sequential design process.

One of the most important organisational preconditions that led to the implementation of the OOP infrastructure was the lack of financial resources. As the establishment of numerous bilateral connections between registries and databases was too expensive for a small country with the limited resources, the need for more cost-efficient solutions was clearly understood. The implementation of X-tee successfully increased the cost-efficiency by significantly

reducing costs and administrative burden (Kalvet et al. 2013). The case study therefore demonstrated that the lack of money did not lead to the failure of the OOP but rather encouraged policy-makers to find creative and economically beneficial solutions. Second, similarly to several studies (e.g. Kalvet et al. 2018) that highlighted the importance of a good inter- and intra-organisational collaboration, this factor played also a key role in the successful initiation and implementation of the OOP in Estonia. A stable coordinating organisation (i.e. Department of State Information Systems) with a small group of motivated and qualified personnel having common ideas and goals can be one good example to illustrate this. On the other hand, a cooperation with other stakeholders (e.g. Data Protection Inspectorate, Estonian Informatics Centre, private sector companies, academics) contributed to building a shared understanding and solving the legal and technical issues. According to interviewees, lack of a strong centralized management, inflexible rules, and horizontal communication were also considered essential factors that led to the implementation and further developments of the OOP infrastructure. In addition, the top management support was not a less significant factor. For example, top managers from public sector institutions helped to gradually overcome different barriers, e.g. public officials' resistance to change, path-dependency, and uncertainty related to the new system, that slowed down the implementation of X-tee. Therefore it can be concluded that most of the findings of the case study on the organisational factors confirm the findings from literature review. However, one factor that was not concretely mentioned by scholars was a strong will and motivation to initiate and implement ICT-projects. In Estonia, this factor played a crucial role. As 1990s were characterised by ICT-enthusiasm, different stakeholders from the public and private sector wanted to strongly contribute to the development of Estonia and implement future-oriented projects regardless the smallness of the country and its limited resources.

In respect of institutional factors, the importance of the Databases Act cannot be underestimated. The act provided a legal basis for the OOP implementation and made it necessary both to exchange the data between public organizations and reuse the data. According to interviewee IV: "State system is based on so-called "lazy principle". Without coercion, public organisations would have viewed the data in their databases as their own and would have had no motivation to voluntarily share the data with other parties". Therefore as was also highlighted in the literature review, the regulatory framework contributed to a more wide and successful

implementation of the OOP. The case study also demonstrated that even a few differences between legal acts (e.g. Databases Act vs Personal Data Protection Act) led to the confusion and various interpretations that in turn, hindered the smooth data exchange and data reuse. In the later period, the creation of the regulation on the data exchange layer X-tee brought more clarity regarding the rules for implementing and using X-tee, referred to other legal acts and therefore increased the legal interoperability that according to the literature is one of the key factors for a successful implementation of the OOP. One factor that was not highlighted by the scholars but was extremely important in Estonia was a flexible and still evolving legal system. In the 1990s, it enabled to build an open space for discussions and negotiations between stakeholders that eventually led to the initiation of pilots on the OOP infrastructure. In the later period, the flexibility of the legal system enabled to primarily focus on the actual implementation process of X-tee. This made possible to create and align relevant legal rules only after having the functional technical solutions ready and. Therefore the possibility to prioritize the actual implementation of the OOP infrastructure is without a doubt a unique factor that led to the successful implementation.

Similarly to the literature review, the political and demand side factors did not receive as much attention as the technological, organisational, and institutional factors in the case of Estonia. However, some of these factors were still considered important. First, the importance of the political support and will played an essential role in the initiation and implementation of the OOP in Estonia. Mainly due to the ICT-enthusiasm, many politicians strongly supported the initiation of X-tee (e.g. concluding agreements between ministries). This gave also a clear signal to the public officials to accept the new way of thinking and switch to different systems in order to exchange and reuse the data. Second, while the literature review on the demand side factors rather focused on the citizens' and businesses' perspective, the case study of Estonia mostly demonstrated the perspective of the public officials. Although the policy-makers understood the strong need for the OOP infrastructure, it took a few years when X-tee started to gain trust among the public organisations and public officials. Due to lack of awareness of the solution, the actual benefits of X-tee were not understood. As was also shown in the literature, these factors indeed hindered the smooth implementation of the OOP.

Finally, differently from existing literature on the OOP and e-government, the case study of Estonia demonstrated the importance of a unique personal identity code (PIC) as an enabler of the OOP. As in Estonia, there is a PIC for every single citizen, the solution has significantly eased the identification processes and therefore avoided confusion and security issues.

The findings of the case study confirmed the assumptions made on the literature review. As the implementation of the OOP is related to the data reuse and electronic data exchange between public organisations, the initiation and implementation of the OOP in Estonia was to a large extent influenced by different technological and organisational factors. However, it became also clear that institutional factors are not less significant. The case study also demonstrated several context-specific factors (i.e. agile implementation, strong will and motivation to initiate and implement ICT projects, flexible legal system, limited financial resources). Therefore if a country is interested in implementing the OOP, it would be crucial to have an in-depth understanding of the context of the country (e.g. political, administrative, and legal systems). As countries are different, the practices that work in one country do not have to necessarily work in another country. Thus other countries should rather design their own context-specific solutions than copy Estonian practices. Nevertheless, it is possible to still provide with some general recommendations that other countries could take into account when implementing the OOP. For example, it would be crucial to firstly, get an in-depth overview of the existing ICT infrastructure and system of registries and information systems, if any. This knowledge would enable to make more informed decisions and plans regarding the implementation of the OOP infrastructure. Second, as it was shown, the availability of the personal identity code would significantly ease the implementation of the OOP by eliminating the confusion in regards to the identification processes. Third, a special attention should be paid to the development of security systems in order to avoid different security and privacy issues. Fourth, it is crucial to focus on the intra- and inter-organisational collaboration to build a common understanding and vision on the central aspects of the OOP (e.g. regarding ICT architecture and security systems). In order to achieve a better collaboration, it would be essential to organise different seminars and meetings that would provide an open space for discussions, negotiations and finding compromises and common understandings.

CONCLUSION

A few years ago, the European Union started to pay a strong attention to the cross-border implementation of the OOP that has now been addressed by policy and by various pan-European projects. However, there is not much research on the implementation of the OOP at the national level. This thesis aimed to fill this gap by examining the key factors influencing the implementation of the OOP in a member state that has been considered a success story. To that end, a case study of Estonia was carried out.

Due to lack of literature on the OOP, related disciplines such as public sector innovation, egovernment, and ICT were taken into account to understand the factors influencing the egovernment initiatives and projects such as the OOP. The findings demonstrated four broad categories of factors, i.e. technological, organisational, institutional and political, and demand side factors. By taking into account the specificities and the nature of the OOP, both technological and organisational factors seemed to influence the implementation of the OOP the most.

The case study of Estonia confirmed the findings from the literature. Some of the most important factors that influenced the initiation and implementation of the OOP were the availability of an advanced ICT infrastructure, chosen technology for the OOP infrastructure, technical interoperability, security, lack of financial resources, inter- and intra-organisational collaboration, and top management support and leadership. However, in addition to technological and organisational factors, the case study strongly emphasized also the importance of the institutional factors (i.e. supportive legislative framework). Furthermore, factors such as political support, perceived usefulness of X-tee among policy-makers, lack of awareness of X-tee among public officials, and the existence of the personal identity code were also considered

important to highlight. As the findings demonstrated several context-specific factors, it is possible to consider the case of Estonia unique. The main reasons for the uniqueness can be associated with the context of history, smallness of the country, and the stakeholders' and policy-makers' specific way of thinking in regards to the implementation of the ICT-projects.

The theoretical findings on the factors influencing the application of the e-government projects can be taken as a valuable framework for understanding the success or failure of the implementation of the ICT-projects. Nevertheless, the literature lack to explain the contextual factors affecting the implementation of the e-government projects such as the OOP. Therefore in order to get a more detailed and comprehensive understanding of the implementation of the OOP at the national level, both strands should be taken into account.

Regardless of the issues with a generalisability that a single case study might have, the findings of the case study of Estonia can be useful and beneficial as a learning process for other countries. The case study demonstrated a significant importance of the availability of the core technological components for the OOP, a successful collaboration and coordination between different stakeholders, common understandings on different aspects of the implementation of the OOP.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Abu-Shanab, E., Bataineh, L. Q. (2015). Challenges Facing E-Government Projects: How to Avoid Failure? - International Journal of Emerging Sciences. Vol. 4, no. 4. Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/281035107_Challenges_Facing_E-government_Projects_How_to_Avoid_Failure</u>, 13.12.2018.
- Ahmad, M. O., Oivo, M., Markkula, J. (2012). Factors Influencing the Adoption of e-Government Services in Pakistan. - *European, Mediterranean & Middle Eastern Conference on Information Systems*, 07.-08.06.2012, Munich, Germany. Available at: <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/5887093</u>, 15.04.2019.
- Ahmady, A. G., Mehrpour, M., Nikooravesh, A. (2016). Organizational Structure. Procedia -Social and Behavioral Sciences. Vol. 230. Available at: <u>https://ac.elscdn.com/S1877042816311582/1-s2.0-S1877042816311582-main.pdf?_tid=89c621afbbad-4ee2-a74f-2a40246c3fd4&acdnat=1543260212_2c9cbe372a377ebd8e8c6497f91f03d2, 26.11.2018.</u>
- Akbulut, A. Y. (2003). An investigation of factors that influence electronic information sharing between state and local agencies. - *Eight Americas Conference on Information Systems, December 2002.* Available at: <u>https://aisel.aisnet.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=https://www.google.ee/&httpsredi</u> <u>r=1&article=1698&context=amcis2002</u>, 07.12.2018.

AKS RT I, 1997, 28, 423. 12.03.1997.

- Alassim, M., Alfayad, M., Abbott-Halpin, E. (2017). Understanding Factors Influencing E-Government Implementation in Saudi Arabia from an Organizational Perspective.-International Journal of Information and Communication Engineering. Vol. 11, no. 7. Available at: <u>https://waset.org/publications/10008195/understanding-factors-influencing-e-government-implementation-in-saudi-arabia-from-an-organizational-perspective-</u>, 28.11.2018.
- Al-Busaidy, M. (2011). Evaluating the Institutional Factors Affecting E-Government Implementation. (A Thesis Submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy) School of Information Systems, Computing and Mathematics. Brunel University. London.

- Alfarraj, O. A. (2013). Factors Influencing the Development of eGovernment in Saudi Arabia: A Qualitative Investigation of the Developers' Perspectives. (A Thesis Submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy) School of Information and Communication Technology. Griffith University. Queensland.
- Alisa, D., Senija, N. (2010). The Organizational Structure and Organizational Culture Interdependence Analysis with a Special Reference to Bosnian and Herzegovinian Enterprises. - *The Organizational Structure, EA*. Vol. 43, no. 3-4. Available at: <u>http://ebooks.ien.bg.ac.rs/390/1/2010_3_4_6.pdf</u>, 26.11.2018.
- Al-Khateeb, A., Faloudah, A., Bahumayd, M., Zafar, A., (2015). E-Government Strategy and Its Impact on Economic Development of the Nation: A Case Study of the KSA. -*International Advanced Research Journal in Science, Engineering and Technology*. Vol. 2, no. 5. Available at: <u>https://iarjset.com/upload/2015/may-15/IARJSET%2022.pdf</u>, 25.02.2019.
- Alpi, K. M., Evans, J. J. (2019). Distinguishing Case Study as a Research Method from Case Reports as a Publication Type. - *J Med Libr Assoc*. Vol. 107, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6300237/</u>, 12.05.2019.
- Al-Rahbi, Y., Al-Harrasi, S., Al-Wahaibi, S. (2012). Technical Factors Affecting the Adoption of E-Government. (Master Thesis) School of Economics and Management. Lund University. Lund.
- Alshehri, M., Drew, S. (2010a). Implementation of e-Government: Advantages and Challenges. *Proceedings of the IASK International Conference E-Activity and Leading Technologies & InterTIC 2010*, 8.11.2010, Oviedo, Spain. Available at: <u>https://research-</u> <u>repository.griffith.edu.au/bitstream/handle/10072/40620/72631_1.pdf?sequence=1&i</u> <u>sAllowed=y</u>, 17.11.2018.
- Alshehri, M., Drew, S. (2010b). Challenges of e-Government Services Adoption in Saudi Arabia from an e-Ready Citizen Perspective. - International Journal of Industrial and Manufacturing Engineering. Vol. 4, no. 6. Available at: <u>https://waset.org/publications/5629/challenges-of-e-government-services-adoptionin-saudi-arabia-from-an-e-ready-citizen-perspective</u>, 07.12.2018.
- Alshehri, M., Drew, S. (2011). E-government principles: implementation, advantages and challenges. - *International Journal of Electronic Business*. Vol. x, no.x. Available at: <u>https://research-</u> repository.griffith.edu.au/bitstream/handle/10072/42703/73445_1.pdf?sequence=1&i <u>sAllowed=y</u>, 17.11.2018.
- Altameem, T., Zairi, M., Alshawi, S. (2006). *Critical Success Factors of E-Government: A Proposed Model for E-Government Implementation*. Conference in Information Technology, 2006. Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/224281086_Critical_Success_Factors_of_E -Government_A_Proposed_Model_for_E-Government_Implementation, 22.11.2018.

- Al-Wazir, A. A., Zheng, Z. (2014). Factors Influencing E-government Implementation in Least Developed Countries: A Case Study of Yemen. *Developing Country Studies*. Vol. 4, no. 7. Available at: <u>https://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/DCS/article/view/12184/12537</u>, 11.12.2018.
- Ansper, A. (2001). E-State from a Data Security Perspective. (Master's thesis) Faculty of Systems Engineering. Tallinn University of Technology. Tallinn.
- Arduini, D., Denni, M., Lucchese, M., Nurra, A., Zanfei, A. (2013). The role of technology, organization and contextual factors in the development of e-Government services: An empirical analysis on Italian Local Public Administrations. *Structural Change and Economic Dynamics*. Vol. 27. Referred to Fountain, J. E. (2006). *Enacting Technology in Networked Governance: Developmental Processes of Cross-Agency Arrangements* Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0954349X13000465, 22.11.2018.
- Arfeen, M. I., Khan, N. (2009). Public sector innovation: Case Study of e-government Projects in Pakistan. - *The Pakistan Development Review*. Vol. 48, no. 4. Available at: <u>http://www.pide.org.pk/pdf/PDR/2009/Volume4/439-457.pdf</u>, 12.10.2018.
- Arula, K., Christoffel, J., Edasi, K., Kalja, A., Kivi, R., Kull, A., Lehes, M., Maaten, E., Oorn, R., Pihl, T., Raude, U., Riismaa, K., Rits, K., Segaert, S., Tepandi, J., Truusalu, K., Vallner, U., Viira, T. (2006). *Information Technology in Public Administrations of Estonia. Yearbook 2005.* Available at: https://www.digar.ee/arhiiv/et/raamatud?id=6088&sort=1, 03.05.2019.
- Ashaye, R., Irani, Z. (2014). E-government Implementation Benefits, Risks, and Barriers in Developing Countries: Evidence from Nigeria. US-China Education Review B. Vol. 4, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/aad9/b96009fa77a91d6db02ffb8a549e1e5b050d.pdf</u>, 18.11.2018.
- Astalin, P. K. (2013). Qualitative Research Designs: A Conceptual Framework. *International Journal of Social Science & Interdisciplinary Research*. Vol. 2, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/baa7/c8f5577b0b1798b5e9f559f5cbae32bf1a36.pdf</u>, 11.03.2019.
- Baguma, R., Lubega, J. (2013). Factors for Success and Failure of e-Government Projects: The Case of E-Government Projects in Uganda. ICEGOV. Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Theory and Practice of Electronic Governance, 22-25 October, 2013, Seoul, Republic of Korea. Available at: <u>https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=2591921</u>, 04.01.2019.

- Basu, S. (2004). E-government and Developing Countries: An Overview. *InternationalReview* of Law, Computers & Technology. Vol. 18, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/13600860410001674779?needAccess=</u> <u>true</u>, 23.11.2018.
- Belachew, M. (2010). E-Government initiatives in Ethiopia. ICEGOV 2010. Proceeding of the 4th international Conference on Theory and Practice on Electronic Governance, 25-28 October, 2010, Beijing, China. Available at: <u>https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=1930332</u>, 04.01.2019.
- Bekkers, V., Homburg, V. (2005). *The Information Ecology of E-Government. E-Government As Institutional and Technological Innovation in Public Administrations*. The Netherlands: IOS Press.
- Bhuiyan, S. H. (2011). Trajectories of E-Government Implementation for Public Sector Service Delivery in Kazakhstan. *International Journal of Public Administration*. Vol. 34, no. 9. Available at: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/01900692.2011.586894?needAccess=t</u> <u>rue</u>, 28.11.2018.
- Bjørn, F., Fatful, W. (2008). E-Government Challenges and the Role of Political Leadership in Indonesia: the Case of Sragen. *Proceedings of the 41st Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, 7-10.01.2008, Waikoloa, USA. Available at: <u>http://unpan1.un.org/intradoc/groups/public/documents/un-dpadm/unpan042038.pdf</u>, 14.01.2019.
- Blau, M., Soisson, G., Zamboni, A., Mayot, L., Monteiro, C. (2015). Security and data protection measures in the context of "Once-Only" and reuse of existing data approaches. Available at: <u>https://slideplayer.com/slide/14176469/</u>, 29.09.2018.
- Borins, S. (2002). Leadership and Innovation in the Public Sector. *Leadership and Organization Development Journal*. Vol 23, no. 8. Available at: <u>https://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/abs/10.1108/01437730210449357</u>, 12.10.2018.
- Bowen, G. (2009). Document Analysis as a Qualitative Research Method. *Qualitative Research Journal*. Vol. 9, no. 2. Available at: http://ngsuniversity.com/pluginfile.php/134/mod_resource/content/1/DocumentAnaly_sis.pdf, 11.05.2019.
- Bugge, M. M., Bloch, C. W. (2016). Between Bricolage and Breakthroughs Framing The Many Faces of Public Sector Innovation. - *Public Money & Management*. Vol. 36, No. 4. Available at: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/09540962.2016.1162599?needAccess= true</u>, 12.10.2018.
- Cave, J., Botterman, M., Cavallini, S., Volpe, M. (2017). *EU-wide digital Once-Only principle* for citizens and businesses. Policy options and their impacts. Available at:

https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/news/eu-wide-digital-once-onlyprinciple-citizens-and-businesses-policy-options-and-their-impacts, 09.02.2019.

- Charalabidis, Y., Lampathaki, F., Askounis, D. (2009). A Review of InteroperabilityStandards and Initiatives in Electronic Government. - *Mediterranean Conference on Information Systems*, 2009, Athens, Greece. Available at: <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/f0d1/825be9edfb1933aae2fb5959fab6dd60eb0e.pdf</u>, 23.11.2018.
- Combe, C, Tallo, I., Brown, R. (2006). *Public Sector Capacity in the EU 8. E-Government in Estonia: Development and Best Practice.* Document of the World Bank.
- Csoto, M., Robert, I., Krasznay, C., Merkovity, N., Molnar, S., Monda, E., Nemeslaki, A., Ocskay, G., Rab, A., Wolf, R., Sasvari, P., Stella, M, Szadeczky, T. (2014). *ICT Driven Public Service Innovation. Comparative Approach Focusing on Hungary.* Budapest: Pauker Printing House.
- Daft, R. L., Margic, D. (2009). Understanding Management. 6th Edition. Mason, USA: South Western Cengage Learning.
- Demircioglu, M. A., Audretsch, D. B. (2017). Conditions for innovation in public sector organizations. - *Research Policy*. Vol. 46, no. 9. Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0048733317301385</u>, 12.10.18.
- Detlor, B., Hupfer, M. E., Ruhi, U. (2010). Internal factors affecting the adoption and use of government websites. *Electronic Government An International Journal*. Vol. 7, no. 2. Available at: <u>https://www.inderscienceonline.com/doi/abs/10.1504/EG.2010.030923</u>, 07.12.2018.
- Ebrahim, Z., Irani, Z. (2005). E-government adoption: architecture and barriers. *Business Process Management Journal*. Vol. 11, no. 5. Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Zahir_Irani/publication/235254120_E-government_adoption_Architecture_and_barriers/links/546739510cf2397f782bbafc.pdf</u>, 22.11.2018.
- Eesti Informaatikanõukogu. (1994). *Eesti informaatika arenduskava aastani 2000. Eesti tee infoühiskonda.* Library of Tallinn University of Technology.
- Eesti NSV riiklike registrite seadus. ÜVT 1990, 3, 6. Available at: https://www.riigiteataja.ee/akt/28183, 03.05.2019.
- Egoeze, F., Misra, S., Akman, I., Colomo-Palacios, R. (2014). An Evaluation of ICT Infrastructure and Application in Nigeria Universities. *Acta Polytechnica Hungarica*. Vol. 11, no. 9. Available at: <u>https://www.uni-obuda.hu/journal/Egoeze_Misra_Akman_Colomo-Palacios_55.pdf</u>, 18.11.2018.

- Elkadi, H. (2013). Success and failure factors for e-government projects: A case from Egypt. *Egyptian Informatics Journal*. Vol. 14, no. 2. Available at: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1110866513000236, 02.12.2018.
- European Commission. (2014). *ICT-enabled public sector innovation in H2020*. Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/ict-enabled-public-sector-innovation-horizon-2020</u>, 12.10.2018.
- European Commission. (2016). Access to Base Registries. Good Practices on Building Successful Interconnections of Base Registries. Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/isa2/sites/isa/files/publications/access-to-base-registries-good-practices-on-building-successful-interconnections-of-base-registries.pdf</u>, 15.02.19.
- European Commission. (2017a). *The "Once-Only" Principle (TOOP) Project launched in January 2017*. Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/news/once-only-principle-toop-project-launched-january-2017</u>, 29.09.2018.
- European Commission. (2017b). New European Interoperability Framework. Promoting Seamless Services and Data Flows for European Public Administrations. Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/isa2/sites/isa/files/eif_brochure_final.pdf</u>, 01.05.2019.
- European Commission. (2018). Digital Economy and Society Index (DESI) 2018. Country Report Estonia. Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-</u> market/en/scoreboard/estonia, 11.10.2018.
- EU eGovernment Action Plan 2016-2020. (2016). *EU eGovernment Action Plan 2016-2020, accelerating of the digital transformation of the government*. Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/news/communication-eu-egovernment-action-plan-2016-2020-accelerating-digital-transformation</u>, 11.05.2019.
- Evangelidis, A., Akomode, J., Taleb-Bendiab, A., Taylor, M. (2002). *Risk Assessment and Success Factors for e-Government in a UK Establishment*. In: Traunmüller R., Lenk, K. (eds) Electronic Government. Springer, Berlin. Available at: <u>https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007%2F3-540-46138-8_64.pdf</u>, 04.01.2019.
- Field, T., Muller, E., Lau, E., Gadriot-Renards, H., Vergez, C. (2003). The Case for E-Government: Excerpts from the OECD Report: "The E-Government Imperative". *OECD Journal on Budgeting*. Vol. 3, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://www.oecdilibrary.org/docserver/budget-v3-art5-</u> <u>en.pdf?expires=1544617319&id=id&accname=oid013565&checksum=17557E4ED2</u> <u>154D3AE4375FEE2944544C</u>, 12.12.2018.
- Fountain, J. E. (2006). Enacting Technology in Networked Governance: Developmental Processes of Cross-Agency Arrangements. National Center for Digital Government Working. NCDG Working Paper No. 06-003. Available at: <u>https://scholarworks.umass.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=https://www.google.ee/ &httpsredir=1&article=1018&context=ncdg</u>, 22.11.2018.

- Furufolt, B., Wahid, F. (2008). E-Government Challenges and Role of Political Leadership in Indonesia: the Case of Sragen. *Proceedings of the 41st Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, 2008, Waikoloa, Hawaii, USA. Available at: <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/4439116</u>, 04.01.2019.
- Gallo, C., Giove, M., Millard, J., Kåre Valvik Thaarup, R. (2014). *Study on eGovernment and the Reduction of Administrative Burden*. Available at: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/digital-</u> <u>single-market/en/news/final-report-study-egovernment-and-reduction-administrative-</u> <u>burden-smart-20120061</u>, 29.09.2018.
- Gambarotto, F., Cammozzo, A. (2010). Dreams of Silence: Employee Voice and Innovation in A Public Sector Community of Practice. *Innovation: management, policy & practice*. Vol. 12, no. 2. Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.5172/impp.12.2.166, 02.11.2018.
- Gasco, M. (2012). Approaching E-Government Interoperability. *Social Science Computer Review*. Vol. 30, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/258190143_Approaching_E-</u> <u>Government_Interoperability</u>, 12.05.2019.
- Gil-Garcia, J. R., Pardo, T. A. (2005). E-Government Success Factors: Mapping Practical Tools to Theoretical Foundations. *Government Information Quarterly*. Vol. 22, no. 2. Available at:<u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.471.2236&rep=rep1&ty</u> <u>pe=pdf</u>, 12.12.2018.
- Gichoya D. (2005). Factors Affecting the Successful Implementation of ICT Projects in Government. *The Electronic Journal of e-Government*. Vol. 3, no. 4. Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/281070235_Factors_Affecting_the_Success_ful_Implementation_of_ICT_Projects_in_Government</u>, 11.12.2018.
- Goldkuhl, G. (2008). The Challenges of Interoperability in E-Government: Towards a Conceptual Refinement. *Pre-ICIS 2008 SIG eGovernment Workshop*, 2008, Paris, France. Available at: <u>http://www.vits.org/publikationer/dokument/664.pdf</u>, 21.01.2019.
- Guijarro, L. (2009). Semantic Interoperability in eGovernment Initiatives. *Computer* Standards and Interfaces. Vol. 31. Available at: <u>https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Semantic-interoperability-in-eGovernment-Guijarro/33159d30c1002568c2a2283f0f0aee78d2c8041e</u>, 21.01.2019.
- Gupta, R., Singh, J. (2014). Knowledge Management and Innovation in (e) Government. International Journal of Information and Computation Technology. Vol. 4, no. 16. Available at: <u>https://www.ripublication.com/irph/ijict_spl/ijictv4n16spl_04.pdf</u>, 08.01.2019.

- Harjo, R., Kasendi, J. (2001). *Infosüsteemide arendusprojektide tulemuslikkus*. Available at: <u>https://www.riigikontroll.ee/tabid/215/Audit/1605/WorkerTab/Audit/WorkerId/99/lan</u> <u>guage/et-EE/Default.aspx</u>, 03.03.2019.
- Hartley, J., Sørensen, E., Torfing, J. (2013). Collaborative Innovation: A Viable Alternative to Market Competition and Organizational Entrepreneurship. -*Public Administration Review*. Vol. 73, No. 6. Available at: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/puar.12136</u>, 12.10.2018.
- Herm, A., Jõeveer, J., Senipalu, R., Valgma, Ü. (2006). International Migration. Methodology for collecting data on international migration. Available at: <u>https://www.stat.ee/dokumendid/19482</u>, 04.05.2019.
- Huda, M., Yunas, N. S. (2016). The Development of e-Government System in Indonesia. Jurnal Bina Praja. Vol. 8, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/305950692_The_Development_of_e-Government_System_in_Indonesia</u>, 07.12.2018.
- Hujran, O. A., Aloudat, A., Altarawneh, I. (2013). Factors Influencing Citizen Adoption of E-Government in Developing Countries: The Case of Jordan. *International Journal of Technology and Human Interaction*. Vol. 9, no. 2. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/262404615_Factors_Influencing_Citizen_A_doption_of_E-Government_in_Developing_Countries_The_Case_of_Jordan, 25.02.2019.
- Hussein, R., Karim, N. S. A., Selamat, M. H. (2007). The impact of technological factors on information systems success in the electronic-government context. *Business Process Management Journal*. Vol. 13, no. 5. Available at: <u>https://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/pdfplus/10.1108/14637150710823110</u>, 17.11.2018.
- Ifinedo, P., Singh, M. (2011). Determinants of e-Government Maturity in the Transition Economies of Central and Eastern Europe. *Electronic Journal of e-Government*. Vol. 9., no. 2. Available at: <u>http://researchbank.rmit.edu.au/view/rmit:15481</u>, 22.11.2018.

IKS RT I, 1996, 48, 944. 12.06.1996.

Infosüsteemide andmevahetuskihi rakendamine RT I, 2003, 83, 568, 19.12.2003.

- Kalja, A. (2004). *X-teed mööda e-riiki, kas jõuame pärale?* Riigi Infosüsteemide arenduskeskus. Available at: <u>https://slideplayer.com/slide/14045043/</u>, 12.05.2019.
- Kalja, A., Robal, T., Vallner, U. (2015). New Generations of Estonian eGovernment Components. 2015 Portland International Conference on Management of Engineering and Technology. 2-6 August, 2015, Portland, USA.

- Kalvet, T. (2001). *ICT, Innovations and Innovation Policy: The Case of Estonia*. Available at: <u>http://ev2.ioc.ee/useful/evikings-ict-innov-policy.pdf</u>, 02.03.2019.
- Kalvet, T. (2007). *The Estonian Information Society Developments Since the 1990s*. Available at: <u>http://praxis.ee/wp-content/uploads/2014/03/2007-Estonian-information-society-developments.pdf</u>, 02.03.2019.
- Kalvet, T., Tiits, M., Hinsberg, H. (2013). *E-teenuste kasutamise tulemuslikkus ja mõju*. Balti Uuringute Instituut, Poliitikauuringute Keskus Praxis. Available at: <u>http://www.praxis.ee/vana/index.php-id=363.html</u>, 12.05.2019.
- Kalvet, T., Toots, M., Krimmer, R. (2017). *D2.7 Drivers and Barriers for OOP (1st version)*. Available at: <u>http://toop.eu/sites/default/files/D27_Drivers_and_Barriers.pdf</u>, 15.04.2019.
- Kalvet, T., Toots, M., Krimmer, R. (2018). Contributing to a Digital Single Market for Europe: Barriers and Drivers of an EU-wide Once-Only Principle. *Proceedings of the* 19th Annual International Conference on Digital Government Research, May 30-June 1, 2018, Delft, Netherlands. Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/325493743_Contributing_to_a_digital_sing</u> <u>le_market_for_Europe_barriers_and_drivers_of_an_EU-wide_once-only_principle</u>, 12.05.2019.
- Kanungo, S., Jain, V. (2011). Organizational Culture and E-Government Performance: An Empirical Study. *International Journal of Electronic Government Research*. Vol. 7, no. 2. Available at: <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/fdf1/6f4aa2b36d3637398a9698ad8249975db2bf.pdf</u>, 28.11.2018.
- Kattel, R., Mergel, I. (2018). Estonia's digital transformation: Mission mystique and the hiding hand. - UCL Institute for Innovation and Public Purpose Working Paper Series (IIPP WP 2018-09). Available at: <u>https://www.ucl.ac.uk/bartlett/publicpurpose/sites/public-purpose/files/iipp-wp-2018-</u> 09_estonias_digital_transformation.pdf, 11.10.2018.
- Kazmi, S. N. A. (2010). Factors Influencing e-Governance Implementation: Issues and Challenges in Pakistan. 2010 Fifth International Conference on Digital Information Management, 5-8 July, 2010, Thunder Bay, Canada. Available at: <u>https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/abstract/document/5664643</u>, 02.12.2018.
- Khanh, N. T. V. (2014). *The critical factors affecting E-government adoption: A conceptual framework in Vietnam.* SOOGSIL University. Available at: <u>https://arxiv.org/ftp/arxiv/papers/1401/1401.4876.pdf</u>, 18.11.2018.
- Kindel, K., Kivi, R. (2010). *Andmekogude ülevaade*. Available at: <u>http://stud.sisekaitse.ee/Jarvet/Andmekogud/sisu/Andmekogude%20%C3%BClevaad</u> <u>e%202010%20RISO.pdf</u>, 24.03.19.

- Kitsing, M. (2011). Success Without Strategy: E-Government development in Estonia. *Policy* & *Internet*. Vol. 3, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.2202/1944-2866.1095</u>, 07.04.2019.
- Krimmer, R., Kalvet, T., Toots, M., Cepilovs, A. (2017). D2.6 Position Paper on Definition of OOP and Situation in Europe. Available at: <u>http://toop.eu/sites/default/files/D2.6_Position_Paper_OOP.pdf</u>, 15.02.19.
- Krull, A. (2003). ICT Infrastructure and E-Readiness Assessment Report: ESTONIA. PRAXIS Centre for Policy Studies. Available at: <u>https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/11870795.pdf</u>
- Kumar, R., Best, M. L. (2007). Impact and Sustainability of E-Government Services in Developing Countries: Lessons Learned from Tamil Nadu, India. *The Information Society*. Vol. 22, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/01972240500388149?needAccess=tru</u> <u>e</u>, 28.11.2018.
- Kunstelj, M., Vintar, M. (2004). Evaluating the Progress of E-Government Development: A Critical Analysis. *Information Polity*. Vol. 9. Available at: <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/ca05/bc8feea91dd88c0a275b2484a8e10a991771.pdf</u>, 25.02.2019.
- Lam, W. (2005). Barriers to E-Government Integration. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*. Vol. 18, no. 5. Available at: <u>https://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/pdfplus/10.1108/17410390510623981</u>, 12.12.2018.
- Makau, G. K., Omwenga, E. I., Daudi, N. (2015). The Critical Organizational Factors of E-Government in Kenya. International Journal of Computer Applications Technology and Research. Vol. 4, no. 4. Available at: <u>https://profiles.uonbi.ac.ke/eomwenga/files/journal_ijcatr04041007_critical_organisat_ ionalfactors_makauomwenga.pdf</u>, 28.11.2018.
- Margariti, V. (2018). Organizational Interoperability in E-government: A Case Study from the Greek Public Sector. EGOV-DeDEM-ePart 2018 Conference, September 2018, Krems, Austria. Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/327593755_Organizational_Interoperability</u> <u>in_E-government_A_Case_Study_from_the_Greek_Public_Sector</u>, 21.01.2019.
- Martens, T. (2009). Electronic Identity Management in Estonia Between Market and State Governance. - *Identity in the information society*. Vol. 3, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007%2Fs12394-010-0044-0.pdf</u>, 21.04.2019.

- Mawela, T., Ochara, M. N., Twinomurinzi, H. (2017). E-Government Implementation: A Reflection on South African Municipalities. *South African Computer Journal*. Vol. 29, no. 1. Available at: <u>http://www.scielo.org.za/pdf/sacj/v29n1/09.pdf</u>, 01.12.2018.
- Maxwell, J. A. (2013). *Qualitative Research Design. An Interactive Approach. 41 Applied Social Research Methods Series.* SAGE Publications, United States of America.
- Millard, J. (2013). ICT-enabled Public Sector Innovation: Trends and Prospects. *ICEGOV* 13, 22-25 October 2013, Seol, Republic of Korea, 77-86. Available at: <u>https://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?id=2591901</u>, 25.10.2018.
- Misuraca, G., Viscusi, G. (2015). Shaping public sector innovation theory: an interpretative framework for ICT-enabled governance innovation. *-Electron Commer Res.* Vol.15, no.3. Available at: <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10660-015-9184-5</u>, 02.11.2018.
- Mkude, C., Wimmer, M. (2016). Strategic aspects for Successful E-Government Systems Design:Insights from a Survey in Germany. *13th International Conference on Electronic Government*, September 2014, Dublin, Ireland. Available at: <u>https://hal.inria.fr/hal-01401754/document</u>, 14.01.2019.
- Moen, W. E. (2000). Interoperability for Information Access: Technical Standards and Policy Considerations. *The Journal of Academic Librarianship*. Vol. 26, no. 2. Available at: <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ613329</u>, 23.11.2018.
- Moussa, M., McMurray, A., Muenjohn, N. (2018). A Conceptual Framework of the Factors Influencing Innovation in Public Sector Organizations. *The Journal of Developing Areas.* Vol. 52, no. 3. Available at: <u>https://researchbank.rmit.edu.au/view/rmit:46142</u>, 12.12.2018.
- Mulgan, G., Albury, D. (2003). *Innovation in the public sector*. London. Available at: <u>http://www.sba.oakland.edu/faculty/mathieson/mis524/resources/readings/innovation</u>/<u>innovation in the public sector.pdf</u>, 25.10.2018.
- Nabafu, R., Maiga, G. (2012). A Model of Success Factors for Implementing Local E-Government in Uganda. *Electronic Journal of E-Government*. Vol. 10, no. 1. Available at:<u>http://dspace3.mak.ac.ug/bitstream/handle/10570/2016/download.pdf?sequence=1</u> &isAllowed=y, 12.12.2018.
- Naidoo, G. (2012). Implementation of E-Government in South Africa Successes and Challenges: the Way Forward. *International Journal of Advances in Computing and Management*. Vol. 1, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/43178437.pdf</u>, 08.01.2019.

- Navarro, F. M. (2016). From Government Innovation to Public Innovation. The ICT as Key Tools. - *International Journal of New Technology and Research*. Vol. 2, no. 6. Available at: https://www.ijntr.org/download_data/IJNTR02060010.pdf, 18.11.2018.
- Ndou, V. (2004). E-Government for Developing Countries: Opportunities and Challenges. *The Electronic Journal on Information Systems in Developing Countries*. Vol. 18, no. 1. Available at: <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.127.9483&rep=rep1&type</u> =pdf, 12.12.2018.
- Nurdin, N., Stockdale, R., Scheepers, H. (2012). Organizational Adaptation to Sustain Information Technology: The Case of E-Government in Developing Countries. *Electronic Journal of E-Government*. Vol. 10, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/234059576_Organizational_Adaptation_to_Sustain_Information_Technology_The_Case_of_E-Government_in_Developing_Countries</u>, 26.11.2018.
- Nurdin, N., Stockdale, R., Scheepers, H. (2014). Coordination and cooperation in E-Government: An Indonesian Local E-Government Case. *The Electronic Journal of Information Systems in Developing Countries*. Vol. 61, no. 3. Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/260164853_Coordination_and_Cooperation</u> <u>in E-Government_An_Indonesian_Local_E-Government_Case</u>, 13.12.2018.
- Nyrhinen, M. (2008). IT infrastructure: Structure, Properties and Processes. *Sprouts: Working Papers on Information Systems*. Vol. 6, no. 2. Available at: <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/5673/7cb8f5407051bb9f546d4859b3d949947f3a.pdf</u>, 22.11.2018.
- O'Donnell, O., Boyle, R. (2008). Understanding and Managing Organisational Culture. CPMR Discussion Paper. Available at: <u>https://www.ipa.ie/_fileUpload/Documents/CPMR_DP_40_Understanding_Managing_Org_Culture.pdf</u>, 28.11.2018.
- Odrats, I. (2005). *Infotehnoloogia avalikus halduses. Aastaraamat 2005*. Available at. <u>https://www.mkm.ee/sites/default/files/it_avalikus_halduses._aastaraamat_2005.pdf</u>, 05.03.19.
- OECD (2015). Estonia. Fostering Strategic Capacity across Governments and Digital Services across Borders. OECD Public Governance Reviews. Available at: https://www.oecd.org/gov/key-findings-estonia.pdf, 13.12.2018.
- Okot-Uma, R. W. O. (2002). *Electronic Governance: Re-inventing Good Governance*. Available at:<u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.197.6576&rep=rep1&ty</u> <u>pe=pdf</u>, 23.11.2018.

- Osborne, S. P., Brown, L. (2011). Innovations, public policy and public services delivery in the UK: the word that would be a king. *Public Administration*. Vol. 89, No. 4. Available at: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/j.1467-9299.2011.01932.x</u>, 12.10.2018.
- Osimo, D. (2018). How Local Government Reform is a Key to Europe's Digital Success. -*Next Steps for eGovernment: A Six-Point Programme*. No. 23. Available at: <u>https://lisboncouncil.net/publication/publication/146-a-six-point-programme-for-digital-government-.html</u>, 15.04.2019.
- Peters, G. (2018). The Challenge of Policy Coordination. *Policy Design and Practice*. Vol. 1, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/25741292.2018.1437946?needA</u> <u>ccess=true</u>, 14.01.2019.
- Pudjianto, B., Hangjung, Z. (2009). Factors Affecting e-Government Assimilation in Developing Countries. SSRN Electronic Journal. Available at: <u>http://workspace.unpan.org/sites/internet/Documents/UNPAN043621.pdf</u>, 01.12.2018.
- Rahman, S., Rashid, N., Yadlapalli, A., Yiqun, L. (2014). Determining Factors of E-Government Implementation: A Multi-Criteria Decision-Making Approach. -*Pacific* Asia Conference on Information Systems, 24.-28.06.2014, Chengdu, China. Available at: <u>https://aisel.aisnet.org/pacis2014/302/</u>, 12.05.2019.
- Raidmaa, K. (2016). Eesti e-Riigi kesksete komponentide moderniseerimise uuring. (Bakalaureusetöö). Tallinna Tehnikaülikooli informaatikainstituut. - Referred to Oone, K. (1999). 1999. aasta seadusandluse poole pealt. Infotehnoloogia haldusjuhtimises.
- Reddick, C. G. (2005). Citizen Interaction with E-Government: From the Streets to Servers? *Government Information Quarterly*. Vol. 22. Available at: <u>http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.473.3876&rep=rep1&type</u> <u>=pdf</u>, 25.02.2019.
- Ren, F., Zhang, J. (2015). Job Stressors, Organizational Innovation Climate, and Employees' Innovative Behaviour. *Creativity Research Journal*. Vol. 27, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/10400419.2015.992659?needAccess=t</u> <u>rue</u>, 12.12.2018.
- Riigikontroll. (2002a). Ülevaade riigi vara kasutamise ja säilimise kohta 2001. aastal. Riigikontroll.
- Riigikontroll. (2002b). Rahvastikuandmed riigi registrites. Kontrolliaruanne. nr 16.10.2002 nr 058/2001.

- Riigikontroll. (2005). *Riigi IT-valdkonna juhtimine ja arendusprojektide tulemuslikkus*. Kontrolliaruanne. nr OSIV-2-6/05/20.
- Riigi Infosüsteemi Amet. (2002). *Koostöölepped nelja internetipangaga*. Available at: <u>https://www.ria.ee/et/uudised/koostoolepped-nelja-internetipangaga.html</u>, 07.04.2019.
- Riigi Infosüsteemi Amet. (2017). *X-tee sünd, tähtsus ja tulevik. X-tee sünd.* X-tee turvaserveri administraatori õppematerjal. Available at: https://moodle.ria.ee/mod/book/view.php?id=320&chapterid=29, 24.03.19.
- Riigi Infosüsteemi Amet. (2018). *Riigiportaali ajalugu*. Available at: <u>https://www.eesti.ee/est/teemad/kodanik/riigiportaali_abi/riigiportaali_ajalugu</u>, 07.04.2019.
- Riiklike registrite seaduse eelnõu seletuskiri. 79 SE, 30.05.1995. Available at: <u>https://www.riigikogu.ee/tegevus/eelnoud/eelnou/00dcbd73-d1c0-3e5a-ad5b-fc65b565a932/Andmekogude%20seadus</u>, 12.05.2019.
- RRS RT I, 2000, 50, 317, 31.05.2000.
- Sarrayrih, M. A., Sriram, B. (2015). Major challenges in developing a successful egovernment: A review on the Sultanate of Oman. *Journal of King Saud University -Computer and Information Sciences*. Vol. 27, no. 2. Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S131915781500021X</u>, 08.01.2019.
- Schein, E. H. (1988). Organizational Culture. *American Psychologist*. Vol. 45, no. 2. Available at: <u>http://psycnet.apa.org/record/1990-15978-001</u>, 28.11.2018.
- Scholl, H. J., Klischewski, R. (2007). E-Government Integration and Interoperability: Framing the Research Agenda. *International Journal of Public Administration*. Vol. 30, no. 8-9. Available at: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/01900690701402668?needAccess=tru</u> <u>e</u>, 16.01.19.
- Schuppan, T. (2009). E-Government in Developing Countries: Experiences from sub-Saharan Africa. *Government Information Quarterly*. Vol. 26. Available at: <u>http://www.ifg.cc/_pdf/GIQ_E-Government_in_developing_countries.pdf</u>, 04.01.2019.
- Shareef, S. M. (2016). Enhancing Security of Information in E-Government. Journal of Emerging Trends in Computing and Information Sciences. Vol. 7, no. 3. Available at: <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/e6b2/84e672c1490ecb4eaa715ad497134d9ed064.pdf</u> , 23.11.2018.
- Shiferaw, W., Kifle, M., Okuboyejo, S., Mbarica, V. (2018). A Data Exchange Interoperability Framework for eHealth Applications in Ethiopia. *Asian Journal of Computer and*

Information Systems. Vol. 6, no. 2. Available at: <u>https://ajouronline.com/index.php/AJCIS/article/view/5282/2765</u>, 03.05.2019.

- Siil, I., Ott, A. (2003). Eesti e-riik tulgu. Eesti Päevaleht, 7 February. Available at: <u>https://arileht.delfi.ee/news/uudised/eesti-e-riik-tulgu?id=50946222</u>, 16.04.2019.
- Sorn-in, K., Tuamsuk, K., Chaopanon, W. (2015). Factors affecting the development of egovernment using a citizen-centric approach. *Journal of Science & Technology Policy Management*. Vol. 6, no. 3. Available at: <u>https://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/pdfplus/10.1108/JSTPM-05-2014-0027</u>, 22.11.2018.
- Ströbele, M., Leosk, N., Trechsel, A. H. (2017). Two Countries / Two Decades / Two Outcomes. A Brief Comparison of E-Government Solutions in Estonia and Switzerland. Available at: <u>http://xupery.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/08/A-briefcomparison-of-e-government-solutions-in-Estonia-and-Switzerland.pdf</u>, 17.04.2019.
- Svidronova, M. M., Mikus, T. (2015). E-procurement as the ICT innovation in the public services management: case of Slovakia. - *Journal of Public Procurement*. Vol. 15, no. 3. Available at: <u>http://www.ippa.org/images/JOPP/vol15/issue-</u> <u>3/Article_3_Svidronova-Mikus.pdf</u>, 02.11.2018.
- The World Bank (2015). Estonia: A Successfully Integrated Population-Registration and Identity Management System. Delivering Public Services Effectively. Available at: <u>http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/873061495178335850/pdf/115147-WP-EstoniaIDPopregistryIDcasestudyNovweb-PUBLIC.pdf</u>, 17.04.2019.
- Thi, L. S., Lim, H. E., Al-Zoubi, M. I. (2014). Estimating Influence of TOE Factors on E-Government Usage: Evidence of Jordanian Companies. *International Journal of Business and Society*. Vol. 15, no. 3. Available at: <u>http://www.ijbs.unimas.my/repository/pdf/Vol15-no3-paper3.pdf</u>, 07.12.2018.
- Thomas, G. (2011). A Typology for the Case Study in Social Science Following a Review of Definition, Discourse, and Structure. *Qualitative Inquire*. Vol. 17, no. 6. Available at: <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1077800411409884</u>, 11.03.2019.
- Tran, Q., Tian, Y. (2013). Organizational Structure: Influencing Factors and Impact on a Firm. *American Journal of Industrial and Business Management*. Vol. 3. Available at: <u>https://file.scirp.org/pdf/AJIBM_2013042513413585.pdf</u>, 28.11.2018.
- Tsai, Y. (2011). Relationship between Organizational Culture, Leadership Behaviour and Job Satisfaction. *BMC Health Services Research*. Vol. 11. Available at: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3123547/pdf/1472-6963-11-98.pdf</u>, 28.11.2018.
- Tung, L. L., Rieck, O. (2005). Adoption of Electronic Government Services Among Business Organizations in Singapore. *The Journal of Strategic Information Systems*. Vol. 14,

no. 4. Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S096386870500034X, 10.01.2019.

- Tänavsuu, T. (2003). E-kodaniku projekt ei edene. Eesti Päevaleht, 20 January. Available at: <u>http://arileht.delfi.ee/news/uudised/e-kodaniku-projekt-ei-edene?id=50944500</u>, 07.04.2019.
- United Nations. (2018). United Nations E-Government Survey 2018. Available at: <u>https://publicadministration.un.org/egovkb/Portals/egovkb/Documents/un/2018-</u> <u>Survey/E-Government%20Survey%202018_FINAL%20for%20web.pdf</u>, 11.10.2018.
- Vallner, U., Reinsalu, K., Kuivjõgi, K., Nyman-Metcalf, K. M., Jakowlewa, T., Roustaei, A., Valizoda, B., Wimmer, M. A., Gerontas, A., Panopoulou, E., Kroyer, V., Sallmann, R., Fuehrer, M., Marinov, B. (2017). *Deliverable 1.2: State of play report of best practices*. Available at: <u>https://scoop4c.eu/sites/default/files/2018-01/SCOOP4C_D1.2_0.pdf</u>, 30.09.2018.
- Veldre, A. (2015). *Sissejuhatus X-teesse*. RIA blogi. Available at: <u>https://blog.ria.ee/tag/x-tee/</u>, 03.05.19.
- Vigoda-Gadot, E., Shoham, A., Schwabsky, N., Ruvio, A. (2005). Public Sector Innovation for the Managerial and the Post-Managerial Era: Promises and Realities in a Globalizing Public Administration. *International Public Management Journal*. Vol. 8, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://ipmn.net/wp2/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/8-1-04a -Vigoda-Gadot.pdf</u>, 12.12.2018.
- Vries, H., Tummers, L., Bekkers, V. (2018). A stakeholder perspective on public sector innovation: why position matters. - *International Review of Administrative Sciences*. Vol. 84, no. 2. Available at: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/0020852317715513#, 12.10.2018.
- Weerakkody, V., Choudry, J. (2005). Exploring E-Government in the UK: Challenges, Issues and Complexities. *Journal of Information Science and Technology*. Vol. 2, no. 2. Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/239919201_Exploring_E-Government in the UK_Challenges_Issues_and_Complexities</u>, 28.11.2018.
- Weerakkody, V., El-Haddadeh, R., Al-Shafi, S. (2011). Exploring the complexities of e-government implementation and diffusion in a developing country: Some lessons from the state of Quatar. *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*. Vol. 24, no. 2. Available at: https://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/pdfplus/10.1108/1741039111106293, 22.11.2018.
- Whyte, G., Bytheway, A. (1996). Factors affecting information systems' success. International Journal of Service Industry Management. Vol. 7, no. 1. Available at:

https://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/pdfplus/10.1108/09564239610109429, 22.11.2018.

- Wikfeldt, E. (1993). Generalising from Case Studies. (Student Thesis). Halmstad University, School of Business, Engineering and Science. Halmstad, Sweden.
- Willis, B. (2014). *The Advantages and Limitations of Single Case Study Analysis*. Available at: <u>https://www.e-ir.info/2014/07/05/the-advantages-and-limitations-of-single-case-study-analysis/</u>, 12.05.2019.
- Wimmer, M. (2002). A European Perspective Towards Online One-Stop Government: The eGOV Project. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*. Vol. 1, no. 1. Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S156742230200008X</u>, 26.11.2018.
- Wimmer, M., Marinov, B. (2017). SCOOP4C: Reducing administrative burden for citizens through once-only - vision & challenges. Available at: <u>https://www.scoop4c.eu/sites/default/files/2017-</u>05/Wimmer%20MW%20BM%20SCOOP4C_p159_ES_0.pdf, 29.09.2018.
- Wimmer, M. (2018). Once-Only Principle: Best Practice Cases and Potentials in Europe. Available at: <u>https://scoop4c.eu/sites/default/files/2018-03/SCOOP4C_Once-only%20principle_Maria%20Wimmer.pdf</u>, 15.04.2019.
- Äripäev. (2003). KIT? Kodaniku IT keskkond. Äripäev, 14 March. Available at: https://www.aripaev.ee/uudised/2003/03/13/kit-kodaniku-it-keskkond, 07.04.2019.
- Yin, R. K. (2009). *Case Study Research. Design and Methods*. 4th edition. California: SAGE Publications.
- Zainal, Z. (2007). Case study as a research method. *Jurnal Kemanusiaan*. Vol. 9. Available at: <u>http://psyking.net/htmlobj-3837/case_study_as_a_research_method.pdf</u>, 11.03.2019.
- Zeffane, R. (1996). Dynamics of Strategic Change: Critical Issues in Fostering Positive Organizational Change. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*. Vol. 17, no. 7. Available at: <u>https://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/pdfplus/10.1108/01437739610148376</u>, 13.12.2018.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. List of interviews and interview questions

List of interviewees

- Interview I E-government expert, policy maker audio record, written notes (18 February 2019)
- Interview II Top civil servant of Ministry of Economic Affairs and Communications audio record, written notes (8 March 2019)
- Interview III Former employee of Information System Authority audio record, written notes (8 March 2019)
- Interview IV E-government expert, policy maker audio record, written notes (26 February 2019)
- Interview V Top civil servant of Ministry of Justice, former employee of Estonian Data Protection Inspectorate - audio record, written notes (2 April 2019)
- 6. Interview VI IT developer audio record, written notes (26 February 2019)
- 7. Interview VII academic e-mail correspondence, written notes (5 March 2019)

List of interview questions

- 1. What were the main reasons for starting with the implementation of the OOP-based infrastructure?
- 2. How important was the OOP as a principle in the development?
- 3. When did the first ideas and preparations for the initiation and implementation of the OOP in Estonia begin?
- 4. Who were the main supporters?
- 5. What were the key preconditions the led to the implementation of the OOP in Estonia?

- 6. What were the key factors that influenced the actual implementation and further developments of the OOP in Estonia?
- 7. What are the central benefits that can be seen from the implementation of the OOP in Estonia? Has the dynamic changed within the period?
- 8. Is the case of Estonia special in some way?
- 9. What could other countries learn from the case of Estonia?